






“My dream has been to 
discover oil beneath my 
homeland of Mongolia. I 
firmly believe that Petro 
Matad has the right 
assets and the right 
team to fulfil that 
dream.”
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Directors, Dr Philip Vingoe, Dr George Watkins CBE 

and Mr David Skeels, each prominent figures from 

within the oil and gas industry were appointed to the 

Board in March 2012. The appointments of these 

three individuals brought the benefit of a combined 

industry and exploration experience of 125 years to 

the Petro Matad board. In the same month, the 

Company also appointed Ms Amarzul Tuul to the 

Board of Directors, who had also been with the 

Company in management positions since its 

formation. Ms Tuul was appointed as an executive 

Director to ensure management representation on 

the Board after the retirement of the CFO, Mr Clyde 

Evans from his management role (although he has 

remained as a non-executive Director).

The above has resulted in a Board of nine 

members, an increase of one since the last report.  

I believe that the added expertise of the new 

independent non-executive Directors has greatly 

strengthened the resources, knowledge and skills 

available to the Company.  

The Board has set policies to strengthen the 

Company and charged the CEO, Douglas McGay to 

work with his talented management team to 

implement those policies and guidelines.  

Importantly those changes focus upon the 

exploration processes and programmes of the 

Company and as he will report herein, those 

developments are now in place and progressing well.

Mr McGay, as CEO has provided stability combined 

with energy during these challenging and 

changing times. The period under review was 

difficult, and he and I resolved to be the steady 

nucleus of Petro Matad so that the necessary 

changes could be implemented whilst ensuring our 

core values were maintained.   

I would like to express my gratitude to my fellow 

Directors for their continuing efforts on behalf of Petro 

Matad. Our patient shareholders, large and small also 

deserve our gratitude, along with our promise to work 

hard for the future success of the Company.

My dream has been to discover oil beneath my 

homeland of Mongolia. I firmly believe that Petro 

Matad has the right assets and the right team to 

fulfil that dream.

Janchiv Oyungerel
Chair of the Board

I introduce this Annual Report with a mixture of 

pride and disappointment.

Petro Matad has achieved much in its short life.  

After Petrovis LLC combined with Australian 

shareholders in 2006 and subsequently international 

finance in 2008, the Company set about exploring 

for petroleum in Mongolia in a meaningful manner. 

In the first two years we showed great endeavour 

and innovation as we mobilised Mongolian wisdom 

with international talent and technology in a bid to 

locate commercial oil in the eastern steppes of our 

country. When I accepted the appointment of Co-

Chair in 2010, I was excited by the opportunity to 

pioneer the discovery of oil in my country at the head 

of a company with the assets and capability to 

achieve this.

For a period, we thought we had been successful. To 

our disappointment, this first stage of exploring our 

vast land position did not prove to be commercial oil.  

Like true explorationists, Petro Matad has not given 

up.  The Company has refashioned itself and still has 

both money in the bank and highly attractive 

exploration prospects. The fast developing Blocks IV 

and V in the centre of Mongolia are now 

supplementing our prospective eastern Block XX. 

And that is once again a cause for pride.

Growth and change are initiated at the top level of 

any Company, and Petro Matad commenced this 

process by strengthening our Board's technical and 

business expertise. I detail hereunder the changes 

that have been made to the Board over the past year.

In May 2011, the Company welcomed Ms Enkhmaa 

Davaanyam to the Board of Directors as Petrovis's 

nomination, in the place of Ms Enkhchimeg 

Davaanyam, who had resigned as a Director.  

In January 2012, Mr Gordon Toll stepped down as Co-

Chair and resigned as a Director of the Company. He had 

been with the Company since its formation and I would 

like to reiterate the Company's gratitude for his 

contribution. I was pleased to be appointed Chair of the 

Board at that time, accepting this appointment with a 

clear belief that the past hard work, although not 

rewarded with commercial success had laid the 

foundations for a sound future, and that I could 

contribute to the process of change that lay in front of us.

In March 2012, two more Directors retired: Dr John 

Robertson and Ms Sarangua Davaadorj, who had 

served on the Board with distinction since listing in 

2008. The three new independent non-executive 



ä¿í íü õóðäàí àõèæ áóé òºâèéí á¿ñèéí IV, V 

òàëáàé íýìýãäýýä áàéíà. Ýíý íü áèäíèé 

áàõàðõàæ áîëîõ ç¿éëñèéí íýã þì.

Êîìïàíèé äýýä óäèðäëàãàä øèíý÷ëýëò, 

ººð÷ëºëò õèéõ ñàíàà÷èëãà ãàð÷, Ïåòðî Ìàòàä 

êîìïàíè íü ÒÓÇ-èéí ìýðãýæëèéí áîëîí 

áèçíåñèéí ÷àäàâõèéã ñàéæðóóëàõ ¿éë ÿâöûã 

ýõë¿¿ëñýí áà ºíãºðñºí æèëèéí õóãàöààíä ÒÓÇ-

ä õèéñýí ººð÷ëºëòèéã áè äîð èëòãýå.   
 
ÒÓÇ-èéí çàõèðëûí àæëàà õ¿ëýýëãýí ºãñºí 

Äàâààíÿìûí Ýíõ÷èìýãèéí îðîíä Äàâààíÿìûí 

Ýíõìààã ÒÓÇ äàõü Ïåòðîâèñ êîìïàíèé 

òºëººëëººð 2011 îíû 5 äóãààð ñàðä òîìèëñîí.
 
2012 îíû 1 ä¿ãýýð ñàðä Ãîðäîí Òîëë íü ÒÓÇ-èéí 

õàìòàðñàí äàðãà áîëîí ÒÓÇ-èéí çàõèðëûí 

àæëàà õ¿ëýýëãýí ºãñºí. Òýðýýð êîìïàíèéã 

¿¿ñãýí áàéãóóëàõààñ ýõëýí àæèëëàñàí áºãººä 

ýíý õóãàöààíä êîìïàíèä îðóóëñàí ò¿¿íèé õóâü 

íýìðèéã Êîìïàíèé ç¿ãýýñ ºíäðººð ¿íýëæ áóéã 

äàõèí õýëýõèéã õ¿ñ÷ áàéíà. Íî¸í Òîëë àæëàà 

ºãñíººð ìèíèé áèå äàíãààðàà ÒÓÇ-èéí 

äàðãààð àæèëëàõ áîëñîí áºãººä ºíãºðñºí 

æèë¿¿äýä õèéñýí áèäíèé àæèë àðèëæààíû 

àøãèéã àâ÷ðààã¿é õýäèé ÷ êîìïàíèéí 

öààøäûí ¿éë àæèëëàãààíû áàò áýõ áàéð 

ñóóðèéã òàâüñàíä ã¿íýý èòãýæ áàéãàà áºãººä 

öààøèä ººðèéí õóâü íýìðèéã ¿ðãýëæë¿¿ëýí 

îðóóëàõ áîëñîíäîî áàÿðòàé áàéíà.
 
2012 îíû 3 äóãààð ñàðä õî¸ð çàõèðàë àæëàà 

õ¿ëýýëãýí ºãñºí íü Æîí Ðîáåðòñîí áîëîí 

Äàâààäîðæèéí Ñàðàíãóà áºãººä ýäãýýð 

çàõèðëóóä êîìïàíè àíõ 2008 îíä õºðºíãèéí 

Áèä ýíý æèëèéí òàéëàíã îëîëò àìæèëòààðàà 

áàõàðõàõûí çýðýãöýý ñýòãýë ãîíñîéëãîñîí 

àñóóäëûí õàìòààð Òà á¿õýíä õ¿ðãýæ áàéíà. 

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè ¿¿ñãýí áàéãóóëàãäñàíààñ 

õîéøõè áîãèíî õóãàöààíä îëîí ç¿éëèéã 

ã¿éöýòãýæ ÷àäñàí. Ïåòðîâèñ ÕÕÊ 2006 îíä 

Àâñòðàëèéí õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷èäòýé íýãäýæ, 

2008 îíä îëîí óëñûí ñàíõ¿¿æèëò àâñíààñ 

õîéø òóñ êîìïàíè Ìîíãîë Óëñàä ãàçðûí òîñíû 

õàéãóóëûã æèíõýíý óòãààð íü õèéõýýð çîðèã 

øóëóóäñàí. Ýõíèé õî¸ð æèëèéí õóãàöààíä áèä 

àñàð èõ õ¿÷èí ÷àðìàéëò, øèíý ñàíàà÷èëãà 

ãàðãàæ, îëîí óëñûí õýìæýýíèé ìýðãýæëèéí 

÷àäâàð, òåõíîëîãèéã ìîíãîë óõààíòàé õîñëóóëàí, 

Ìîíãîë Óëñûí äîðíûí òàë íóòàãò ãàçðûí 

òîñíû õàéãóóëûí àæëàà ýõë¿¿ëñýí. 2010 îíä 

ººðèéí ýõ îðîíä ýäèéí çàñãèéí ¿ð àøèã á¿õèé 

òîñíû íýýëò õèéõ á¿ðýí áîëîìæòîé ýíýõ¿¿ 

êîìïàíèéí õàìòàðñàí ÒÓÇ-èéí äàðãûí àëáàí 

òóøààëûã õ¿ëýýæ àâàõäàà áè áàÿðòàé áàéëàà.

Õýñýã õóãàöààíä áèäíèé ¿éë àæèëëàãàà 

àìæèëòòàé ÿâæ áàéíà ãýæ áîäîæ áàéñàí ÷ 

õàðàìñàëòàé íü àñàð ºðãºí íóòàã äýâñãýðèéã 

õàìàðñàí õàéãóóëûí ýõíèé øàòàíä ýíýõ¿¿ 

ýäèéí çàñãèéí à÷ õîëáîãäîë á¿õèé ãàçðûí 

òîñûã èëð¿¿ëæ ÷àäñàíã¿é.  

Ãýâ÷ æèíõýíý õàéãóóë÷íû çàíãààð Ïåòðî 

Ìàòàä êîìïàíè øàíòðààã¿é áºãººä áèä øèíý 

çîõèîí áàéãóóëàëò ººð÷ëºëòèéã õèéæ, îäîîãèéí 

áàéäëààð áàíêèíäàà õºðºíãºòýé, ñîíèðõîë 

òàòàõóéö õàéãóóëûí òàëáàéíóóäòàé õýâýýð 

áàéíà. ªíººã õ¿ðòýë ñîíèðõîë òàòàõóéö 

õýìæýýíä áàéãàà äîðíîäûí ÕÕ òàëáàé äýýð ¿ð 
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Ã¿éöýòãýõ çàõèðëûí õóâèàð íî¸í ÌàêÃýé íü 

áèäíèé ºìíº òóëãàðñàí ÿðâèãòàé, ººð÷ëºãäºõ 

¿éë ÿâöûí òóðøèä öóöàøã¿é õ¿÷èí ÷àðìàéëò 

ãàðãàí àæèëëàæ èðëýý. Áèäíèé òàéëàãíàæ áóé 

õóãàöààíä áýðõøýýë òóëãàð÷ áàéñàí áºãººä 

ÌàêÃýé áèä õî¸ð õàìòðàí Ïåòðî Ìàòàä 

êîìïàíèé áàò áýõ öºì áîëæ àæèëëàõààð 

øóëóóäñàí ìààíü êîìïàíèé ¿íýò ç¿éëñèéã 

õýâýýð õàäãàëàõûí çýðýãöýý øààðäëàãàòàé 

ººð÷ëºëòèéã õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõèéã çîðüñîí. 

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíèé ºìíººñ áèäýíòýé 

àæèëëàæ áàéñàí, îäîî àæèëëàæ áàéãàà 

çàõèðëóóääàà òýäíèé öóöàøã¿é õ¿÷èí 

÷àðìàéëòûíõ íü òºëºº áè òàëàðõàë 

èëýðõèéëýõèéã õ¿ñ÷ áàéíà. Áèäíèéã 

òýâ÷ýýðòýéãýýð îéëãîæ áóé òîì, æèæèã 

õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷ääýý ìºí òàëàðõàõûí 

çýðýãöýý êîìïàíèé èðýýä¿éí òºëºº áèä 

òóóøòàé àæèëëàíà ãýäãýý àìàëæ áàéíà.  

Ìîíãîë íóòàãòàà ãàçðûí òîñ íýýõ íü ìèíèé 

ýðòíèé ìºðººäëèéí íýã. Õýäèéãýýð 2010 îí 

áýðõøýýëòýé áàéñàí ÷ ýíýõ¿¿ ìºðººäëèéã 

áèåë¿¿ëýõýä øààðäëàãàòàé õºðºíãº, çºâ 

áàãèéã Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè á¿ðä¿¿ëæ 

÷àäñàí ãýäýãò áè áàò èòãýäýã.

Æàí÷èâûí Îþóíãýðýë
ÒÓÇ-èéí Äàðãà

áèðæ äýýð á¿ðòãýãäñíýýñ õîéø êîìïàíèéí ÒÓÇ-ä 

ìàø àìæèëòòàé àæèëëàñàí õ¿ì¿¿ñ þì . Ôèëèïï 

Âèíãî, Æîðæ Óîòêèíêñ, Äýâèä Ñêèéëñ íàðûí áèå 

äààñàí, ã¿éöýòãýõ áóñ çàõèðëóóä 2012 îíû 3 äóãààð 

ñàðä ÒÓÇ-ä òîìèëîãäñîí áºãººä ýäãýýð õ¿ì¿¿ñ íü 

ãàçðûí òîñ, áàéãàëèéí õèéí ñàëáàðûí õýìæýýíä 

¿íýëýãääýã ìýðãýæèëòí¿¿ä þì. Ýäãýýð õ¿ì¿¿ñèéã 

òîìèëñíîîðîî ñàëáàðûí áîëîí õàéãóóëûí àæëûí 

íèéò 125 æèëèéí àðâèí òóðøëàãûã Ïåòðî Ìàòàäûí 

ÒÓÇ-ä àâ÷èð÷ ÷àäñàí þì. Ìºí Êîìïàíèéã 

áàéãóóëàõ ¿åýñ ýõëýí óäèðäàõ àëáàí òóøààëä 

àæèëëàæ èðñýí Òóóëûí Àìàðçóëûã ÒÓÇ-ä 3 äóãààð 

ñàðä òîìèëñîí. Õàòàãòàé Àìàðçóë íü Ñàíõ¿¿ãèéí 

ã¿éöýòãýõ çàõèðàë Êëàéä Ýâàíñ (òýðýýð îäîî ÒÓÇ-ä 

ã¿éöýòãýõ áóñ çàõèðëààð àæèëëàæ áàéãàà) àëáàí 

òóøààëààñàà ÷ºëººëºãäñºíèé äàðàà êîìïàíèéí 

ìåíåæìåíòèéí óäèðäëàãûí áàãûí òºëººëëèéí  

ÒÓÇ-ä ýçëýõ òýíöâýðòýé áàéäëûã õàíãàõ ¿¿äíýýñ 

òîìèëîãäñîí.

Äýýðõ ººð÷ëºëòèéí ¿ð ä¿íä ºíãºðñºí æèëèéí 

òàéëàíãààñ õîéø ÒÓÇ-èéí á¿ðýëäýõ¿¿í íýã 

ãèø¿¿íýýð íýìýãäýí, íèéò åñºí ãèø¿¿íòýé áîëñîí 

÷ äýýðõè ãóðâàí, áèå äààñàí, ã¿éöýòãýõ áóñ 

çàõèðëûí ìýäëýã òóðøëàãà íü êîìïàíèé íººö 

áîëîëöîî, ìýäëýã, ÷àäâàðûã àñàð èõ õýìæýýãýýð 

÷àäàâõèæóóëñàí ãýäýãò áè èòãýæ áàéíà.

Êîìïàíèéã èë¿¿ áýõæ¿¿ëýõ áîäëîãûã ÒÓÇ-ººñ 

ãàðãàæ, Êîìïàíèé ã¿éöýòãýõ çàõèðàë Äóãëàñ 

ÌàêÃýéä ÷àäâàðëàã áàãòàéãàà õàìòðàí ýäãýýð 

áîäëîãî, óäèðäàìæèéã õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõ äààëãàâàð 

ºãñºí. Õàìãèéí ÷óõàë íü ýäãýýð ººð÷ëºëò íü 

êîìïàíèé õàéãóóëûí ¿éë ÿâö, òºñë¿¿ä äýýð 

òºâëºð÷ áàéãàà áºãººä àìæèëòòàé õýðýãæèëò, 

ÿâöûí òàëààð òýð ººðºº òàéëàãíàõ áîëíî.    
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“The Directors believe 
that the changes that 
have been wrought by 
the Company 
advantageously position 
it to properly exploit 
the opportunities that 
its assets represent.”



The Directors believe that with the above 

initiatives the Company is now in a position to 

productively explore the sometimes difficult 

frontier environment in which we operate, and to 

apply experiences from the past. Additionally, we 

consider that the individuals we have brought 

together, when combined with the existing 

Directors and management and technical teams, 

have created a Company that is in an excellent 

position to progress forward.

 

During 2011, Petro Matad encountered problems 

with its log evaluation on certain Davsan Tolgoi 

wells due to the differing log responses that can 

occur in formations where the connate water has 

low salinity. This problem was exacerbated in the 

case of Davsan Tolgoi, because of the frontier 

nature of the area and a lack of prior samples on 

which to base standards. The Company is 

reviewing its operational logging and analysis 

procedures to ensure that these take full account 

of the issues associated with low salinity 

formations and are as robust as possible in this 

regard. As a means of calibrating these 

procedures, the Company plans to revisit the 

reservoir parameters (including porosity and fluid 

saturations) that should be derived from the log 

interpretation of the Davsan Tolgoi wells using 

the salinities measured from water samples taken 

from those wells.   
 
Our technical team and consultants, in 

conjunction with RISC's peer assist programme 

will conduct a number of specific basin and other 

studies ahead of the next phase of drilling.  The 

other studies include defining hydrocarbon play 

fairways and re-processing and interpreting 

some key seismic lines. The objective of these 

studies is to provide a more balanced and lower 

risk exploration drilling campaign for 2013.  

Accordingly, the Company decided to suspend 

drilling for the remainder of 2012, whilst the 

studies are completed and, consequently the 

drilling and workover rigs have been stood down.
  

 
Petro Matad's PSCs in Blocks XX, IV and V with 

the Government of Mongolia cover over 60,000 

square kilometres and encompass nineteen 

distinct basinal areas spread throughout the 

blocks.  The basins total 18,000 square kilometres 

in extent.  By contrast, drilling by Petro Matad in 

2011 Drilling Programme on Block XX

Beyond Davsan Tolgoi

I am pleased to present Petro Matad's Annual 

Report for the financial year ended 31 December, 

2011, and to comment more generally on the 

events of that year and up to the date of 

publication – 29 June, 2012.

 
2011 was a year that ended in disappointment for 

the Company and its shareholders, and the value 

of Petro Matad has dropped even further during 

the first part of 2012. The Directors experienced 

that sense of disappointment very keenly.  While 

it is proper to reflect somewhat on the past year's 

challenges with the benefit of hindsight, this 

report will concentrate more on relaying to 

shareholders that the Company has taken positive 

steps to ensure that Petro Matad is better placed 

to address the exploration risks that are inherent 

to our business.

 
Petro Matad operates three Production Sharing 

Contracts (PSCs) over attractive and extensive 

exploration areas in the emerging country of 

Mongolia. Our Company's largest shareholder is the 

biggest petroleum products importer in Mongolia 

(Petrovis LLC). In 2008, Petro Matad was the first 

substantially owned Mongolian company to list on 

an international stock exchange.  

Following a series of fund-raisings, the Company's 

main focus was the exploration of its most 

advanced prospect at the time, the Davsan Tolgoi 

anticline from 2010 through to 2011.  

Unfortunately that exploration proved 

unsuccessful and the Board and management are 

now concentrating on rebuilding and refocusing 

the Company so as to better explore the 

remainder of its vast acreage. The Directors 

believe that the changes that have been wrought 

by the Company advantageously position it to 

properly exploit the opportunities that its assets 

represent.  

 
As part of the process of introducing positive 

changes to Petro Matad, the Company took 

advantage of Board and management resignations 

or retirements and proactively sought to strengthen 

those and other aspects of the Company. In 

addition, the Company decided to supplement its 

own in-house technical team with an independent 

firm of geoscience consultants, RISC Pty Ltd (RISC), 

to assist in the examination of previous results, 

assessment of assets and be a part of further 

planning and programmes.  
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of particular interest. As in the north of Block 

XX, hydrocarbon maturity in the central and 

southern part of Block XX depends on the 

structural and depositional history of individual 

basins. Therefore, in addition to prospect 

generation, basin modelling will be used to 

assess the potential for hydrocarbon source 

maturity prior to drilling. 

Prior to Petro Matad's 2010-2011 exploration 

programmes, petroleum exploration in the Valley 

of Lakes region of Mongolia, in which both 

Blocks IV and V lie, was virtually non-existent.  

Our extensive surface and subsurface sampling 

programmes have vastly improved the Company's 

understanding of stratigraphic age and structural 

development for this part of Mongolia and as a 

result enhanced our knowledge of the potential 

of these assets.

In particular, a core hole drilled on Block V in 2011 

provided the following data:
 

Conclusive evidence that oil has been generated   

in the Tugrug Basin;  
The presence of good-to-excellent source        

rocks; and
Reservoir rocks with good porosity and         

permeability.
 

Seismic has also revealed two major basins within 

Block V. These are the Taatsiin Tsagaan Nuur 

Basin and the Tugrug Basin, both about 30-35 km 

wide. At present, the wide grid spacing of the 

seismic lines precludes accurate precise prospect 

delineation; however, a number of possible leads 

have been mapped.

Block V 

2010 and 2011 took place in only one part of one 

basin and covered approximately 100 square 

kilometres.  While acreage alone is not the sole 

arbiter of exploration potential, the number of 

basins and the fact that there has only been 

drilling in one part of one of these basins 

illustrates the huge amount of exploration 

potential in the Company's portfolio.

Hydrocarbon maturation mapping using 

geochemical data combined with structural 

mapping indicates a significant area of 

hydrocarbon maturity in the area west of Davsan 

Tolgoi (West Tolgoi). Significantly this basin area is 

also on trend with, and adjacent to the basin area in 

the Tolson Uul oilfield in Block XIX to the north. This 

mapping has also identified a second smaller area 

of potential hydrocarbon maturity east of Davsan 

Tolgoi (East Tolgoi). Both areas contain several 

structural lead areas and current seismic mapping is 

being focused on confirming these leads as possible 

drilling prospects. Finally, even further to the east 

but still in the general area of Davsan Tolgoi a new 

type of play has been identified.  The Lag Nuur 

thrust fault play shows promise and is also being 

subjected to further study with the objective of 

selecting locations for this play (as well as in West 

Tolgoi and East Tolgoi) for drilling in 2013.

In 2011, 835 kilometres of seismic lines were 

acquired in the central and southern parts of 

Block XX. Interpretation of this seismic data has 

revealed a number of basin areas with 

structural features that may, with further 

evaluation, progress into prospects. One of 

these basins, the Erdenetsagaan basin appears 

Block XX

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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While acreage alone is not the sole 
arbiter of exploration potential, the 
number of basins and the fact that 
there has only been drilling in one part 
of one of these basins illustrates the 
huge amount of exploration potential 
in the Company's portfolio.



commercial grades of hydrocarbon saturation.  

As outlined in the 25 May 2012 news release, a 

programme of extra surface sampling, two drill 

holes and one seismic line have confirmed that 

this deposit has the potential to be a large 

hydrocarbon source at grades that could be 

considered commercial.  

Exploration work and evaluation studies by our 

consultants continue at KUB, albeit at a reduced 

level when compared with our conventional 

hydrocarbon exploration programmes.

Note 17b to the Financial Statements sets out the 

Company's expenditure on its PSCs and details 

the minimum exploration commitments as set out 

in the agreements with the Petroleum Authority 

of Mongolia (PAM). For the period under review 

the Company has significantly exceeded the 

minimum commitments on Block XX and has 

recorded a small shortfall on Blocks IV and V. As 

exploration on Block XX took priority over Blocks 

IV and V it is anticipated that the Company will 

make further shortfalls on IV and V in the current 

period. The Company is currently revising 

programmes and budgets that reflect both the 

current stage of exploration of Blocks IV and V 

and the current funding environment and will 

submit these to PAM as part of its annual review 

process.

Petro Matad has now created a large 

knowledge base of petroleum systems in 

Mongolia, with detailed but early stage data of 

our own PSCs. As detailed elsewhere in this 

report the Company has modified its modes of 

operation and appropriately complemented or 

changed its Board and management so as to 

In order to further develop its regional 

understanding of the block and to better focus its 

exploration, the Company is undertaking 

additional studies at this time. The studies are 

scheduled to be completed over the next three 

months, with a view to the resultant 

recommended seismic acquisition taking place 

over the coming winter months. These studies 

and field programmes are all designed to 

generate the first drilling programme on Block V 

to take place in 2013.
 

  

There is only a rudimentary 20 to 25 kilometre 

grid of seismic reconnaissance lines across Block 

IV. However, while this seismic shows a 3,000 

metre thick section of sedimentary rocks with 

extensive lateral continuity, there appears to be a 

lack of structural deformation over most of the 

western part of the block. In the eastern part of 

the block adjacent to Block V, there is the possibility 

of some anticlinal folding, but more data is required.
 

A 1,440 metre stratigraphic core hole was drilled 

in the Biger Basin (to the west) and is being used 

to derive regional stratigraphy and oil potential 

from comparison with regional outcrops.

Blocks IV and V contain approximately fourteen 

known occurrences of oil shale at this time.  Most 

have been preliminarily assessed with respect to 

their association with conventional petroleum 

exploration.  

One, Khoid Ulaan Bulag (KUB) on the southern 

boundary of Block IV showed early promise of 

Block IV

Oil Shale
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Community Relations: Health, Safety and 

Environment and Corporate Governance

The Board is aware of the importance of good 

corporate governance. A Corporate Governance 

Social Action and Environmental Committee was 

formed in 2010.
 
In 2011 the Company also established a Legal and 

Compliance Division and resourced it with a team of 

internationally qualified lawyers. This Division is 

charged with monitoring and advising on corporate 

governance matters and answers to the CEO.

More details of our commitment to corporate 

governance can be found within this report.

Petro Matad is cognisant of the social impact of 

our operations and has developed a Social Action 

Plan to contribute to the social developments of 

communities impacted by our exploration and 

drilling activities in Blocks IV, V and XX. We 

believe that operating openly and transparently in 

the community is integral to developing and 

maintaining positive relationships. 

Through meaningful engagement with 

communities we identify opportunities to make 

contributions that are beneficial to all 

stakeholders. Company representatives meet 

frequently with the local authorities and strive to 

educate the community on oil exploration and our 

planned activities. 

The Company is very proud of our major 

scholarship programmes operated in co-

operation with the PAM. Petro Matad sponsors 

Mongolian students and oil sector professionals 

with both international and domestic 

scholarships.

Petro Matad has been continuously developing an 

effective Health, Safety and Environment 

Management System a long with i ts  

implementation and integration. At the corporate 

level, policies, guidelines and standards are defined 

and specific plans and procedures are formulated 

for each project. 

In 2011 Petro Matad achieved a remarkable safety 

milestone in recording 665,336 worked man-

hours without a lost-time-injury for Petro 

Matad's staff, contractors, sub-contractors, and 

consultants. This achievement, added to our Total 

Recordable Injury Frequency Rate, fulfils the 

more suitably explore these areas. The technical 

details of our various properties that I 

summarise above demonstrate ample evidence 

of the basic attractiveness of Petro Matad's 

assets.

In January 2012, Mr Mark Zebrowitz was appointed 

acting Chief Operating Officer replacing Rodney 

Graham, whose contract expired. Mr Zebrowitz 

joined the Company in March 2011 as Drilling 

Manager and brings 25 years of industry experience 

to the position.  

In April 2012, Dr James Coogan resigned as the 

Company's Exploration Manager. Chief 

geophysicist Dr Kurt Constenius has been 

managing the exploration team until a new 

Exploration Manager can be appointed. Petro 

Matad has identified an exceptional and well 

qualified candidate who is expected to commence 

in Ulaanbaatar in late July.
  
Also in April of this year, Mr Clyde Evans retired 

as Chief Financial Officer and was replaced in 

mid-April by Mr John Henriksen. Mr Henriksen 

is an oil industry professional with almost 40 

years' experience. He has moved to Ulaanbaatar 

and is now an integral part of the management 

team.  

The changes that Petro Matad has made at senior 

management level reflect the Company's positive 

evolution since the commencement of its review 

of its 2011 drilling programme. The Company 

expects that the depth of knowledge and 

experience that the new appointees will bring to 

their positions and the management of the 

company will be significant.

In November 2011, Petro Matad appointed Macquarie 

Capital (Europe) Limited to act as its joint corporate 

broker alongside its existing broker, Westhouse 

Securities Limited. In May 2012, the Company 

appointed RLM Finsbury as its investor and public 

relations adviser. The Board recognises the need to 

develop communication with investors and other 

stakeholders to ensure that it properly informs of its 

goals, strategy and activities in a transparent and 

efficient manner. The appointment of both 

Macquarie and RLM Finsbury are both positive steps 

in the development of Petro Matad.

Management Changes

New Financial Advisors 
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The Directors and staff have identified the areas we 

can influence and have applied and will continue to 

diligently apply ourselves to managing and shaping 

those elements of our business.

There is no doubt that Petro Matad has meaningful 

exploration assets.  As outlined in this statement, 

the Company has spent time and resources over 

the past six months, rebuilding an appropriate 

and talented team. We have also sought 

professional outside advice as necessary.  All of 

this has been aimed at ensuring that we are in a 

position to further examine those assets and 

assess a technical path forward, accompanied by 

sensible financing or partnerships to be able to 

implement those programmes.  

We believe that Petro Matad is well placed to 

continue its exploration activities in Mongolia, 

although we continue to be watchful and 

proactive. We have great confidence in the 

democratic institutions of the nation, and believe 

Mongolia is on an irreversible road to a free-

market economy with all the benefits of a 

resource rich country.  

I look forward to the challenges of the future and 

I have full faith in the people that have 

stewardship of the Company on behalf of the 

shareholders. The Directors, management and 

staff are all united behind Petro Matad and 

applying their great talents, experience and work 

ethic for the Company's good. I wish to thank 

them for their past work, and look forward to 

working with them to build an even stronger 

Petro Matad in the future.

I would like to thank Mme Oyungerel, our Chair.  

She has always been a supportive pillar of 

strength and wise advice, and even more so in the 

past eight months. Finally, I wish to relay my 

appreciation, along with those of the Directors to 

our loyal shareholders.  

Douglas J McGay

Chief Executive Officer

overall target set for the Group. The 2011 Health 

and Safety Plan also focused on safety on the 

road through Driving Safety Campaigns and 

regular vehicle inspections. We recorded over 

3,000,000km travelled without a major accident.

Petro Matad is committed to conserving and 

protecting the environment in our areas of 

operations. The Environmental Policy adopted by 

Petro Matad underlines the management's 

commitment to the protection of the environment.  

This is achieved by the adoption of sound practices 

such as preventing or minimising disturbances or 

negative impact on the environment through 

improved waste management, controlled use of 

water resources and fuels, spill prevention practices 

and environmental awareness training for its 

employees.

Mongolia is holding general elections on 28 June, 

2012. Additionally, the recent introduction of a 

Foreign Investment Law has caused concern in 

some quarters, although the final version would 

seem to be workable in both the nation's interest 

and that of reasonable foreign investment. The 

proof of that will be in the implementation of the 

law, along with the accompanying regulations 

and perhaps some post- introduct ion 

adjustments.  

Finally, there is a national imperative to 

modernise the current Petroleum Law, which 

has been operating with little change for 21 

years. Petro Matad was the catalyst in forming 

the Mongolian Petroleum Exploration and 

Producers Association and together with other 

companies has been invited to have meaningful 

input into to the process of amending the 

Petroleum Law. The process continues and we 

are confident that a sensible and modern law 

will result, with proper consideration of both 

the national interest and the promotion and 

care for the exploration of the country's 

petroleum resources.

The current share price causes the Directors and 

me appreciable concern, particularly when 

combined with the parlous state of the equity 

markets in general, the relatively depressed oil 

price and the widespread uncertainty in the world 

financial markets.

Mongolia

Summary
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Óã õàéãóóëûí àæèë àìæèëòã¿é áîëñîí õýäèé ÷ 

¿ëäñýí ºðãºí óóäàì òàëáàéã ¿ð ä¿íòýé 

àøèãëàõûí òóëä Òºëººëºí Óäèðäàõ Çºâëºë 

áîëîí êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãûí áàã øèíý 

çîõèîí áàéãóóëàëòûã õèéæ, àæëûí òºëºâëºëòºä 

àíõààðàí àæèëëàæ áàéíà. Äýýðõ ººð÷ëºëòèéã 

õèéñíýýð êîìïàíèéí ýçýìøëèéí õàéãóóëûí 

òàëáàéã öààøèä çîõèñòîé ¿ð ºãººæòýé 

àøèãëàõàä ÷óõàë õºø¿¿ðýã áîëíî ãýäýãò 

êîìïàíèéí çàõèðëóóä á¿ðýí èòãýëòýé áàéíà.

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíèéí ¿éë àæèëëàãààíä 

õèéñýí øèíý÷ëýëò ººð÷ëºëòèéí õ¿ðýýíä ÒÓÇ 

áîëîí óäèðäëàãûí ò¿âøèíä àæëààñ 

÷ºëººëºõ, òýòãýâýðò ãàðãàõ çýðýã àæëûã 

çîõèîí áàéãóóëñàí íü êîìïàíèéí á¿òýö 

çîõèîí áàéãóóëàëòûã áýõæ¿¿ëýõýä ÷èãëýñýí 

áîäèò ¿ð ä¿íòýé ººð÷ëºëò áîëñîí þì. 

Ò¿¿í÷ëýí, êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãà òåõíèêèéí 

áàãèéí ÷àäàâõèéã ñàéæðóóëàõ àæëûí 

õ¿ðýýíä ºìíº  íü õèéãäñýí àæëûí ¿ð ä¿íä 

ä¿í øèíæèëãýý õèéõ, öààøäûí òºëºâëºëò, 

õºòºëáºðèéã áîëîâñðóóëàõ, ¿íýëãýý õèéõ 

çýðýã àæëûã ã¿éöýòãýõýä òóñëàõ çîðèëãîîð 

ãåîëîãèéí RISC Pty Ltd (“ÐÈÑÊ”) êîìïàíèéí 

çºâëºõ¿¿äèéã íýìæ àæèëëóóëàõ øèéäâýðèéã 

ãàðãàëàà.

Ýäãýýð ñàíàà÷èëãûã àâ÷ õýðýãæ¿¿ëñíýýð 

ºíãºðñºí õóãàöààíä îëæ àâñàí àæëûí 

òóðøëàãûã ¿íäýñëýí áàãà ñóäëàãäñàí ¿éë 

àæèëëàãàà ÿâóóëæ áóé òàëáàéä èë¿¿ ¿ð ä¿íòýé 

õàéãóóëûí àæëûí ã¿éöýòãýõ áîëîìæ á¿ðäëýý 

ãýæ êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãóóä ¿çýæ áàéíà. Ìºí 

îäîî àæèëëàæ áóé ÒÓÇ-èéí ãèø¿¿ä, óäèðäëàãà 

áîëîí òåõíèêèéí áàãèéã íýãòãýæ íýãäìýë íýã 

ñàíààòàé õàìò îëîíã á¿ðä¿¿ëæ ÷àäñàí íü 

èðýýä¿éä àìæèëòòàé õºãæèõ êîìïàíèéã 

òºâõí¿¿ëñýí ãýäýãò èòãýë òºãñ áàéíà.

Ñàíõ¿¿ãèéí òàéëàíò æèë 2011 îíû 12 äóãààð 

ñàðûí 31-íèé ºäðººð  äóóñãàâàð áîëñîíòîé 

õîëáîãäóóëàí Ïåòðî Ìàòàä ÕÕÊîìïàíèéí 2011 

îíä õèéæ ã¿éöýòãýñýí àæëûí òàéëàíã òà á¿õýíä 

òàíèëöóóëàõàä òààòàé áàéíà. 2012 îíû 6 

äóãààð ñàðûí 29-íû ºäºð õ¿ðòýëõ áóþó ýíýõ¿¿ 

òàéëàíã õýâë¿¿ëýõ õóãàöààíä òóñ êîìïàíèàñ 

çîõèîí áàéãóóëñàí ¿éë àæèëëàãàà, àðãà 

õýìæýýíèé åðºíõèé ìýäýýëëèéã îðóóëëàà.
   
2011 îí êîìïàíè áîëîí õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷äèéí 

õóâüä ñýòãýë äóíäóóð æèë áàéëàà. 2012 îíû 

ýõíèé õàãàñò êîìïàíèé õóâüöààíû õàíø 

áàãàã¿é óíàñàí íü çàõèðëóóäûí õóâüä íºõöºë 

á àéäàëä  ä ¿ ã í ý ë ò  õ èéæ ,  ò ó ðøëà ã à  

õóðèìòëóóëñàíã îíöëîõ íü ç¿éòýé þì. Áèäíèé 

õóâüä ºíãºðñºí æèëèéí àæëûí ¿ð ä¿í, 

ñîðèëòóóäûã ýðãýö¿¿ëýí áîäîõûí çýðýãöýý 

êîìïàíèéí áèçíåñèéí ñàëøã¿é õýñýã áîëîõ 

õàéãóóëûí ýðñäýëèéã äàâàí òóóëàõàä îíöãîé 

àíõààðàë õàíäóóëæ öàã òóõàéä íü çîõèñòîé 

àðãà õýìæýýã àâ÷ àæèëëàæ áàéãàà òàëààð 

áîäèò ìýäýýëëèéã ýíýõ¿¿ òàéëàíãààð  

äàìæóóëàí õóâüöàà ýççìøèã÷ääýý õ¿ðãýõèéã 

çîðèëîî.
 
Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü Ìîíãîë Óëñûí íóòàã 

äýâñãýðò ºðãºí óóäàì ãàçðûã õàìàðñàí 3 

òàëáàéä Á¿òýýãäýõ¿¿í õóâààõ ãýðýýíèé äàãóó 

õàéãóóëûí àæëûã ã¿éöýòãýæ áàéíà. Ìàíàé 

êîìïàíèéí õàìãèéí òîì õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷ íü 

Ìîíãîë óëñûí õàìãèéí òîì íåôòü á¿òýýãäýõ¿¿í 

èìïîðòëîã÷ Ïåòðîâèñ ÕÕÊ þì. Ïåòðî Ìàòàä 

êîìïàíè íü 2008 îíä îëîí óëñûí õºðºíãèéí 

çàõ çýýëä á¿ðòãýëòýé àíõíû Ìîíãîë óëñûí 

ýçýìøëèéí êîìïàíè áèëýý.
  
Áèä õºðºíãº áîñãîõ öóâðàë àæëûã çîõèîí 

áàéãóóëñíû äàðàà, òóõàéí ¿åäýý õàìãèéí 

èðýýä¿éòýé ãýæ òîîöîãääîã Äàâñàí òîëãîéí 

ã¿äýí á¿òýö äýýð 2010-2011 îíóóäàä  õàéãóóëûí 

àæëûã òºâëºð¿¿ëýí àæèëëàëàà.



ñåéñìèéí øóãìûí òàéëàë çýðãèéã õàìðóóëíà. 

Äýýðõ ñóäàëãààíû àæëûí çîðèëãî íü 2013 îíû 

õàéãóóëûí ºðºìäëºãèéí àæëûã èë¿¿ 

òýíöâýðòýé, ýðñäýë áàãàòàé ã¿éöýòãýõýä îðøèíî. 

Áèä 2012 îíû ¿ëäýæ áàéãàà õóãàöààíä 

ºðºìäëºãèéí àæëûã çîãñîîæ, ñóäàëãààíû àæëûã 

ýöýñëýõ øèéäâýð ãàðãàñàíòàé  õîëáîãäîí 

ºðºìäëºãèéí àæëûã çîãñîîæ, àæèëëàæ áàéãàà 

ºðºìäëºãèéí òºõººðºìæ¿¿äèéã áóóëãààä áàéíà.

 

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü 60,000 õàâòãàé 

äºðâºëæèí êì á¿õèé 19 ñàâ ãàçðûã õàìàðñàí 

ÕÕ, IV, V áëîêóóä äýýð Ìîíãîë óëñûí Çàñãèéí 

ãàçàðòàé Á¿òýýãäýõ¿¿í õóâààõ 3 ãýðýý  áàéãóóëñàí 

áèëýý. Ýäãýýð ñàâ ãàçðóóä íü íèéòäýý 18,000 

õàâòãàé äºðâºëæèí êì òàëáàéã ýçýëäýã. 

Êîìïàíèéí  20 10 - 20 1 1  îíä  õèéñ ýí  

ºðºìäëºãèéí àæèë íü äýýðõ òàëáàéí çºâõºí 

íýã ñàâ ãàçðûí òîäîðõîé õýñýãò áóþó 

îéðîëöîîãîîð 100 õàâòãàé äºðâºëæèí êì 

òàëáàéã õàìàðñàí áîëíî. Õýäèéãýýð õàéãóóëûí 

÷àäàâõèéã çºâõºí òàëáàéí õýìæýý, ñàâ ãàçðûí 

òîîãîîð òîäîðõîéëîõã¿é áîëîâ÷ ºðºìäëºãèéã 

çºâõºí íýã ñàâ ãàçðûí òîäîðõîé õýñýãò õèéñýí 

íü êîìïàíèéí õóâüä õàéãóóëûí àñàð èõ íººö 

÷àäàâõè áàéãààã õàðóóëæ áàéãàà þì.
 

 

Ãåîõèìèéí ìýäýýëëèéã àøèãëàí õèéñýí 

í¿¿ðñòºðºã÷èéí òîãòîëöîîíû çóðàãëàë áîëîí 

á¿òöèéí çóðàãëàëààñ õàðàõàä Áàðóóí òîëãîéí 

Äàâñàí òîëãîéãîîñ áóñàä òàëáàéíóóä

ÕÕ òàëáàé

ÕÕ òàëáàéí 2011 îíû
ºðºìäëºãèéí õºòºëáºð

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè 2011 îíä Äàâñàí òîëãîéí 

òîäîðõîé öîîíîãóóäûí òàéëàíä ¿íýëãýý õèéõýä 

áýðõøýýë òóëãàðñàí áºãººä ýíý íü äàâñæèëò 

áàãàòàé, øààð á¿õèé òîãòîöûí òàéëëóóä õàðèëöàí 

àäèëã¿é áàéñàíòàé õîëáîîòîé þì. Õàìðàõ 

òàëáàéí õýìæýý õÿçãààðëàãäìàë, ñóóðü æèøèã 

áîëãîõ óðüä÷èëñàí äýýæ äóòàãäàæ áàéñàí íü 

Äàâñàí òîëãîéí õóâüä àñóóäëûã óëàì õ¿íäð¿¿ëñýí 

þì. Áàãà äàâñæèëò á¿õèé òîãòîöòîé óÿëäàí 

ãàðàõ áýðõøýýëèéã á¿ðýí õýìæýýíä 

àíõààðàëäàà àâñàí ýñýõèéã òîäðóóëàõûí òóëä 

êîìïàíè ººðèéí á¿õ ¿éë àæèëëàãààíû òàéëàí 

áîëîí ä¿í øèíæèëãýýíèé ãîðèìûã ýðãýí õÿíàæ, 

öààøèä àëäààã¿é áîëãîõ òàëààð àíõààðàë 

òàâèí àæèëëàæ áàéíà. Ýäãýýð ãîðèìä 

òîõèðóóëãà õèéõ çàìààð ðåçåðâóàðûí 

ïàðàìåòð¿¿äèéã (í¿õ ñ¿âæèëò áîëîí õàíàñàí 

øèíãýíèéã õàìðóóëàí) äàõèí õÿíàõààð 

òºëºâëºæ áàéãàà áºãººä ¿¿íèéã Äàâñàí 

òîëãîéí öîîíîãóóäûí òàéëëóóäàä òóëãóóðëàí, 

ýäãýýð öîîíîãóóäààñ àâñàí óñíû äýýæèí äýõ 

äàâñæèëòèéí õýìæýýã àøèãëàí õèéõ áîëíî. 

Ìàíàé òåõíèêèéí áàã áîëîí çºâëºõ¿¿ä, RISC-

ûí êîìïàíèéí òóñëàìæòàéãààð òîäîðõîé õýä 

õýäýí ñàâ ãàçðóóäûí áîëîí áóñàä ñóäàëãààã 

ºðºìäëºãèéí äàðààãèéí ¿å øàòíû àæèë 

ýõëýõýýñ ºìíº õèéõ áîëíî. Áóñàä ñóäàëãààíû 

àæèëä òàëáàéí ýõëýë, òºãñãºëèéã òîäîðõîéëîõ 

áà äàõèí áîëîâñðóóëàõ, çàðèì íýã ãîë 
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ÅÐªÍÕÈÉ Ã¯ÉÖÝÒÃÝÕ ÇÀÕÈÐËÛÍ ÌÝÄÝÃÄÝË (¯ÐÃÝËÆËÝË)

Ñàéíãààñ-îíö ñàéí ýõ ¿¿ñâýðèéí               

÷óëóóëãèéí èëðýë áàéíà,
Í¿õ ñ¿âøèëò áîëîí íýâ÷èõ øàëãóóð á¿õèé   

÷óëóóëãèéí ñàí ñàéí çýðýã áîëíî.

Ñåéñìèéí ñóäàëãààíû ¿ð ä¿íä V òàëáàéí õ¿ðýýíä 

Òààöèéí Öàãààí íóóðûí ñàâ ãàçàð áîëîí 

Òºãðºãèéí ñàâ ãàçðûã èëð¿¿ëëýý. Äýýð ñàâ 

ãàçàð íü òóñ á¿ðäýý 30-35 êì ºðãºí  ãàçðûã 

õàìàðñàí áàéíà. Îäîîãèéí áàéäëààð, 

ñåéñìèéí øóãìóóäûí îãòëîëöîë õîîðîíäûí çàéã 

ºðºìäëºãèéí çààãààð íàðèéâ÷ëàí ãàðãààã¿é 

áîëîâ÷ áîëîìæèò õýä õýäýí ñóäëûí 

çóðàãëàëûã ãàðãàñàí þì.

Òàëáàéí á¿ñ íóòãèéí áàéäëûí òàëààð 

íàðèéâ÷èëñàí îéëãîëò àâàõ, óëìààð õàéãóóëûí 

àæëàà ñàéí òºâëºð¿¿ëýõèéí òóëä íýìýëò 

ñóäàëãààíû àæëûã õèéæ áàéíà. Ñóäàëãààíû 

àæëûã èðýõ ãóðâàí ñàðûí õóãàöààíä õèéæ 

äóóñãàõààð òºëºâëºæ áàéãàà áºãººä ñåéñìèéí 

çºâëºìæèéã ¿íäýñëýí èðýõ ºâëèéí ñàðóóäàä 

àæèëëàõ áîëíî. Ýäãýýð ñóäàëãààíóóä áîëîí 

òàëáàéí àæëûí õºòºëáºð¿¿ä íü á¿õýëäýý 2013 

îíä V áëîê äýýð ã¿éöýòãýõ ýõíèé ºðºìäëºãèéí 

àæëûã õèéõýä ÷èãëýãäýíý.
  

IV òàëáàéã çºâõºí ðóäèìåíòàðèéí 20-25 êì-

èéí ñåéñìèéí õàéãóóëûí øóãìûí îãòëîëöîë 

äàéðàí ãàð÷ áàéíà. Ýíýõ¿¿ ñåéñìèéí ñóäàëãàà 

íü õàæóó òèéø èõýýõýí ¿ðãýëæèëñýí ñóóðü 

÷óëóóëãèéí çóçààí íü 3000 ìåòð áàéãààã 

õàðóóëñàí áºãººä òàëáàéí áàðóóí õýñãèéí 

èõýíõ òàëáàéä ýâäðýëèéí á¿òýö áàéõã¿é áàéíà. 

V áëîêòîé çýðýãöýý îðøèõ òàëáàéí ç¿¿í õýñýãò 

çàðèì íýã àíòèêëèíàëèéí íóãàëààñ áàéõ 

áîëîìæòîé áºãººä õàðèí íýìýëò ìýäýýëýë 

øààðäëàãàòàé áàéãàà þì.

Áèãýðèéí ñàâ ãàçàðò (áàðóóí òèéø) 1440 

ìåòðèéí äàâõðàãà ç¿éí ¿íäñýí öîîíîãò 

ºðºìäëºã õèéñýí áà ¿¿íèéã á¿ñ íóòãèéí 

äàâõðàãà ç¿é áîëîí ãàçðûí òîñíû áîëîìæèò 

á¿ñèéí ÷óëóóëãèéí èëðýöòýé õàðüöóóëàí 

ãàðãàõàä àøèãëàñàí áîëíî.

Áîãä IV, Îíãè V òàëáàéä øàòäàã çàíàðûí àðâàí 

äºðâºí èëðýö òîãòîîãäëîî.  Ýäãýýð 

èëðýö¿¿äèéí èõýíõè íü ìàíàé óëàìæëàëò áóñ 

ãàçðûí òîñíû õàéãóóëûí õºòºëáºðèéí õ¿ðýýíä 

óðüä÷èëñàí áàéäëààð ñóäëàãäñàí áîëíî.

IV òàëáàé

Øàòäàã çàíàð

õýñýãò í¿¿ðñòºðºã÷èéí òîãòîëöîî á¿õèé íèëýýä 

èõ õýìæýýíèé òàëáàé áàéíà. Ýíý ñàâ ãàçàð íü 

XIX òàëáàéãààñ õîéø Òîñîí Óóë ãàçðûí òîñíû 

òàëáàéí ñàâ ãàçàðòàé çýðýãöýí ¿ðãýëæëýí îðøèæ 

áàéíà. Ýíý çóðàãëàë íü Ç¿¿í Òîëãîéä 

í¿¿ðñòºðºã÷èéí òîãòîëöîî á¿õèé õî¸ðäîõü 

æèæãýâòýð òàëáàéã òîãòîîñîí áàéíà. Ìºí 

äýýðõ õî¸ð òàëáàéä á¿òöèéí õýä õýäýí ñóäàë 

áàéãààã çóðàãëàëààð òîãòîîñîí áàéíà.  

Îäîîãèéí ñåéñìèéí çóðàãëàë íü ºðºìäëºãèéí 

¿åä àëü áîëîõîîð ýäãýýð ñóäëóóäûã íîòëîõîä 

àíõààð÷ áàéíà. Äàâñàí òîëãîéí òàëáàéí õ¿ðýýíä 

áàðóóí òàë ðóó øèíý ìàÿãûí òàëáàéã 

òîãòîîãîîä áàéíà. Ëàã íóóðûí õàãàðëûí òàëáàé 

íü íýëýýä íàéäâàð òºð¿¿ëæ áàéãàà áºãººä ýíý 

òàëáàéãààñ (ìºí Áàðóóí áîëîí Ç¿¿í òîëãîé) 

2013 îíû ºðºìäëºãèéí àæèëä õàìðóóëàõ 

áàéðøëóóäûã ñîíãîõ çîðèëãîîð ñóäàëãààã 

öààøèä íàðèéâ÷ëàí õèéõ áîëíî.

2011 îíä, ÕÕ òàëáàéí òºâ áîëîí ºìíºä õýñýãò 

835 êì ñåéñìèéí ñóäëóóäûí ìýäýýëëèéã àâñàí 

áîëíî. Ñåéñìèéí ìýäýýëëýýð á¿òöèéí îíöëîã 

øèíæòýé õýä õýäýí ñàâ ãàçðóóäûã òîäðóóëñàí 

áºãººä íàðèéâ÷èëñàí ¿íýëãýý õèéæ, óëìààð 

ºðºìäëºã õèéõ áîëîìæòîé þì. Ýäãýýð ñàâ 

ãàçðóóäûí íýã Ýðäýíýöàãààíû ñàâ ãàçàð íü 

îíöãîé ñîíèðõîë òàòàæ áàéãàà þì. ÕÕ òàëáàéí 

õîéä, òºâ áîëîí ºìíºä õýñãèéí í¿¿ðñòºðºã÷èéí 

òîãòîëöîî íü ñàâ ãàçàð á¿ðèéí á¿òöèéí áîëîí 

õóðäñûí ò¿¿õýýñ õàìààðíà. Èéìä ºðºìäëºãèéí 

¿å øàòóóäààñ ãàäíà ñàâ ãàçðûí çàãâàð ãàðãàëòûã 

ºðºìäëºã õèéõýýñ ºìíº í¿¿ðñòºðºã÷èéí 

òîãòîëöîîíû ýõ ¿¿ñâýðèéí ïîòåíöèàëèéí 

¿íýëãýý õèéõýä àøèãëàõ þì.
  

 

Êîìïàíèéí 2010-2011 îíû õàéãóóëûí 

õºòºëáºðººñ õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõýýñ ºìíº IV áîëîí V 

òàëáàé îðøèõ Ìîíãîë óëñûí íóóðóóäûí õîòãîð 

á¿ñ íóòàãò ãàçðûí òîñíû õàéãóóë ¿íäñýíäýý 

õèéãäýæ áàéãààã¿é áàéíà. Ãàäàðãûí áîëîí 

ãàäàðãûí ã¿íèé ºðãºí õ¿ðýýòýé äýýæëýëòèéí 

ñóäàëãààíû õºòºëáºð¿¿ä íü Ìîíãîë óëñûí ýíý 

á¿ñ ãàçàðò äàâõðàãà ç¿éí ýðèí áîëîí á¿òöèéí 

õºãæëèéã òàíèí ìýäýõýä àõèö áîëæ, ýäãýýð 

íóóãäìàë áàÿëãèéí òàëààðõè áèäíèé ìýäëýãèéã 

ºðãºæ¿¿ëýõýä ¿ð ä¿íòýé àæèë áîëëîî.
 

2011 îíä V òàëáàéí öºì öîîíîãò ºðºìäëºã 

õèéñíýýð äàðààõü ìýäýýëëèéã îëæ àâëàà. ̄ ¿íä:
 

Òºãðºãèéí ñàâ ãàçàðò ãàçðûí òîñ õóðèìò-     

ëàãäñàí áàéãààã  á¿ðýí íîòîëëîî.

V òàëáàé
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Óäèðäëàãûí ò¿âøèíä õèéñýí ººð÷ëºëò

Ñàíõ¿¿ãèéí øèíý çºâëºõ

¯éë àæèëëàãàà õàðèóöñàí çàõèðàë Ðîäíè 

Ãðàõàìûí ãýðýý 2012 îíû 1 ä¿ãýýð ñàðä 

äóóñãàâàð áîëñîíòîé õîëáîãäóóëàí Ìàðê 

Çåáðîâèöèéã ¿éë àæèëëàãàà õàðèóöñàí 

çàõèðëààð òîìèëëîî. Ìàðê Çåáðîâèö 2011 îíû 

3 äóãààð ñàðààñ ýõëýí Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíèä 

ºðºìäëºãèéí ìåíåæåðèéí àëáàí òóøààëä 

àæèëëàæ áàéñàí áºãººä ãàçðûí òîñíû ñàëáàðò 

ñ¿¿ëèéí 25 æèë àæèëëàñàí òóðøëàãàòàé þì.

Êîìïàíèéí Õàéãóóëèéí ìåíåæåð Æåéìñ Êóãåí 

2012 îíû äºðºâä¿ãýýð ñàðä ¿¿ðýãò àæëààñàà 

÷ºëººëºãäñºí áºãººä Õàéãóóëûí øèíý ìåíåæåð 

òîìèëîãäîõ õ¿ðòýë õàéãóóëûí áàãèéã  Åðºíõèé 

ãåîôèçèê÷ Äîêòîð. Êóðò Êîíñòåíèóñ óäèðäàæ 

áàéíà. Êîìïàíèéí ç¿ãýýñ äýýðõ àëáàí òóøààëä 

òýíöýõ, ÷àäâàðëàã íýð äýâøèã÷èéã ñîíãîñîí 

áàéãàà áºãººä 7 äóãààð ñàðûí ñ¿¿ëýýð òîìèëîí 

àæèëëóóëàõààð òºëºâëºæ áàéíà.

Ìºí 2012 îíû 4 ä¿ãýýð ñàðä Ñàíõ¿¿ õàðèóöñàí 

çàõèðàë Êëàéä Åâàíñ òýòãýâýðòýý ãàðñàí áºãººä 

ãàçðûí òîñíû ñàëáàðò 40 ãàðóé æèë àæèëëàñàí 

òóðøëàãàòàé Æîí Õåíðèêñåíèéã Ñàíõ¿¿ õàðèóöñàí 

çàõèðëààð òîìèëîâ. Æîí Õåíðèêñåí Ìîíãîë óëñàä 

øèëæèí ñóóðüøèæ, êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãûí 

áàãèéí ñàëøã¿é íýã õýñýã áîëîí àæèëëàæ áàéíà.

Êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãûí äýýä ò¿âøèíä õèéñýí 

á¿òöèéí ººð÷ëºëòèéã õèéñíýýð 2011 îíû 

ºðºìäëºãèéí õºòºëáºðò ä¿í øèíæèëãýý õèéæ 

ýõýëñýí íü êîìïàíèéí ºñºëò õºãæèëòºä 

íààøòàé õàíäëàãûã òºð¿¿ëæ áàéíà. Øèíýýð 

òîìèëîãäñîí çàõèðëóóäûí àðâèí ìýäëýã, 

áàÿëàã òóðøëàãà íü òýäíèé ýðõýëæ áàéãàà 

àæèë áîëîí êîìïàíèéí óäèðäëàãàä èõýýõýí à÷ 

õîëáîãäîë ºãíº ãýäýãò ýðãýëçýõã¿é áàéíà.

Âåñòõàóñ Ñåêðþðèòèç Ëèìèòåä (Westhouse 

Securities Limited) êîìïàíè íü ìàíàé 

êîìïàíèéí áðîêåðèéí ÷èã ¿¿ðãèéã õàðèóöäàã 

áºãººä  2011 îíû 11 ä¿ãýýð ñàðä, Macquarie 

Cap i ta l  L im i ted (Åâðîï) êîìïàíèéã 

áàéãóóëëàãûí õàìòàðñàí áðîêåðýýð äàâõàð 

òîìèëîí àæèëëóóëæ áàéíà. 2012 îíû 5 äóãààð 

ñàðä, êîìïàíèéí õºðºíãº îðóóëàã÷ áºãººä 

îëîí íèéòòýé õàðèëöàõ çºâëºõººð RLM 

Finsbury êîìïàíèéã  òîìèëîâ.

Êîìïàíèéí çîðèëãî, ñòðàòåãè áîëîí ¿éë 

àæèëëàãààíû òàëààð èë òîä, áîäèò ìýäýýëëèéã 

Áîãä IV òàëáàéí óðä ¿ç¿¿ðò îðøèõ Õîéä óëààí 

áóëãèéí (ÕÓÁ) í¿¿ðñ óñòºðºã÷èéí õÿíàëòûí 

õýìæýý íü ¿éëäâýðëýëèéí ¿ð àøèãòàé áàéæ 

áîëîõ ìàãàäëàëòàéã õàðóóëæ áàéíà. Áèä 

ãàäàðãûí äýýæ, õî¸ð öîîíîãèéí ºðºìäëºã 

áîëîí ñåéñìèéí ñóäàëãààãààð ýíýõ¿¿ îðä íü 

¿éëäâýðëýëèéí ¿ð àøèãòàé í¿¿ðñ óñòºðºã÷èéí 

ýõ ¿¿ñâýðòýé áàéõ áîëîìæòîéã òîãòîîñíûã 2012 

îíû 05 äóãààð ñàðûí 25-íû ìýäýýëýëäýý  

äóðäñàí áèëýý.

Í¿¿ðñ óñòºðºã÷èéí óëàìæëàëò õàéãóóëûí 

õºòºëáºðòýé õàðüöóóëàõàä àæëûí õýìæýýãýýð 

áàãà õýäèé ÷ ìàíàé çºâëºõ ìýðãýæèëòí¿¿ä 

Õîéä óëààí áóëàãò ¿íýëãýý, ñóäàëãààíû àæëàà 

¿ðãýëæë¿¿ëýí ã¿éöýòãýæ áàéíà.

Ñàíõ¿¿ãèéí òàéëàíãèéí 17á òàéëáàð õýñýãò 

Á¿òýýãäýõ¿¿í õóâààõ ãýðýýíèé äàãóó Ãðóïïûí 

ýçýìøèæ áóé òàëáàéíóóäàä çàðöóóëàõ 

õºðºíãèéã òóñãàñàí áîë ãýðýýãýýð õ¿ëýýñýí 

õàéãóóëûí àæëûí öàð õ¿ðýýíèé äîîä õýìæýýã 

Ìîíãîë Óëñûí Ãàçðûí òîñíû õýðýã ýðõëýõ 

ãàçàðòàé áàéãóóëñàí ãýðýýíä òóñãàæ ºãñºí 

áèëýý. ÕÕ òàëáàéä õèéãäýõýýð ãýðýýãýýð 

õ¿ëýýñýí àæëóóäààñ èë¿¿ àæëûã õèéæ 

ã¿éöýòãýñýí áîë IV áîëîí V òàëáàéä õèéãäýõ 

àæëóóä òºëºâëºñíººñ áàãà çýðýã äóòóó 

õèéãäñýí áàéíà. Òàéëàíò õóãàöààíä Ãðóïïûí 

ç¿ãýýñ ÕÕ òàëáàéä õàéãóóëûí àæëûã ò¿ëõ¿¿ 

õèéõýýð òºëºâëºñºí ó÷ðààñ IV áîëîí V òàëáàéä 

õèéãäýõ àæèë òºëºâëºãººíººñ áàãà çýðýã 

õîöðîõ ìàãàäëàëòàé áàéíà. Áèä  IV áîëîí V 

òàëáàéí õàéãóóëûí àæëûí õºòºëáºð, òºñºâò 

òîäîòãîë õèéæ áàéãààä áºãººä áàéãàëü îð÷èíä 

õèéæ áóé ñàíõ¿¿æèëòèéí òàëààðõ ìýäýýëëèéã 

Ãàçðûí òîñíû õýðýã ýðõëýõ ãàçàðò àæëûí 

òàéëàí ã  õ ¿ð ã ¿ ¿ëýõ  àæëûí  õ ¿ðý ýíä  

òàíèëöóóëãûã õèéõ áîëíî.

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè ººðèéí Á¿òýýãäýõ¿¿í 

õóâààõ ãýðýýò òàëáàéíóóäûí àíõàí øàòíû 

íàðèéâ÷èëñàí ìýäýýëëèéã áîëîâñðóóëàõûí 

çýðýãöýý Ìîíãîë îðíû ãàçðûí òîñíû á¿òöèéí 

ìýäýýëëèéí ñóóðèéã á¿ðä¿¿ëæ ºãëºº. Áèä 

êîìïàíèéí çàõèðëóóä áîëîí óäèðäëàãûí 

á¿ðýëäýõ¿¿íä ¿ð ä¿íòýé á¿òöèéí ººð÷ëºëò 

õèéæ, ¿éë àæèëëàãààíû àðãà õýëáýðèéã 

ñàéæðóóëàí ýäãýýð òàëáàéíóóäûã çîõèõ ¸ñîîð 

ñóäëàõààð àæèëëàæ áàéíà .  Ìàíàé 

òàëáàéíóóäàä õèéãäýæ áóé äýýð äóðäñàí 

ñóäàëãààíû àæëóóäààñ õàðàõàä êîìïàíèéí 

ýçýìøëèéí òàëáàéíóóä íü õàíãàëòòàé 

ñîíèðõîë òàòàõóéö áàéãààã õàðóóëæ áàéíà.



ÅÐªÍÕÈÉ Ã¯ÉÖÝÒÃÝÕ ÇÀÕÈÐËÛÍ ÌÝÄÝÃÄÝË (¯ÐÃÝËÆËÝË)
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Ìîíãîë óëñûí îþóòíóóä áîëîí ãàçðûí òîñíû 

ñàëáàðûí ìýðãýæèëòí¿¿äèéí ãàäààä, äîòîîäûí 

ñóðãàëòûí òýòãýëýãèéã èâýýí òýòãýæ áàéíà.

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü ýð¿¿ë ìýíä, àþóëã¿é 

àæèëëàãàà áîëîí áàéãàëü îð÷íû ìåíåæìåíò áîëîí 

ò¿¿íèé õýðýãæèëòýíä òîãòìîë àíõààðàë õàíäóóëàí 

¿éë àæèëëàãààãàà ÿâóóëæ áàéíà. Êîìïàíèéí 

ò¿âøèíä áîäëîãî, çààâàð÷ëàãà áîëîí ñòàíäàðòûã 

òîäîðõîéëîí, òºñºë á¿ðýýð  òºëºâëºãºº, æóðìûã 

áîëîâñðóóëàí õýðýãæ¿¿ëæ áàéíà.
 

2011 îíä êîìïàíèéí àæèëëàãñàä, ã¿éöýòãýã÷èä 

áîëîí òóñëàí ã¿éöýòãýã÷èä, çºâëºõ¿¿ä íèéò 

665,336 õ¿í/öàã àæèë ã¿éöýòãýõäýý ÿìàð íýã 

ãýìòëèéí óëìààñ àëäàãäñàí öàã ãàðãààã¿é íü 

àþóëã¿é àæèëëàãààíû õóâüä àñàð òîì 

àìæèëòàä õ¿ðñýí æèë áàéëàà. Ýíýõ¿¿ àìæèëò 

íü, ìàíàé Íèéò Íîòëîãäñîí Ãýìòëèéí 

Äàâòàìæèéí ¯íýëãýýã äàâæ, Ãðóïïûí õóâüä 

äýâø¿¿ëñýí á¿õ çîðèëòûã áèåë¿¿ëñýí þì. 2011 

îíû Ýð¿¿ë ìýíä, àþóëã¿é àæèëëàãààíû 

òºëºâëºãººã õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõ àæëûí õ¿ðýýíä àâòî 

çàìûí àþóëã¿é áàéäëûã õàíãàõ, àâòî ìàøèíû 

àâààð îñîëã¿é æîëîîäëîãûí êàìïàíèò àæèë 

áîëîí àâòî ìàøèíä ¿çëýã õèéõ çàìààð àíõààð÷ 

èðëýý. Áèä 3,000,000 ãàðóé êì çàìûã ÿìàð íýã 

íîöòîé àâààð îñîëã¿é òóóëñàí áàéíà.
 

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü ¿éë àæèëëàãàà 

ÿâóóëæ áàéãàà  íóòàã äýâñãýðò  áàéãàëü îð÷èíã 

õàìãààëàí õàäãàëàõ ¿¿ðýã õ¿ëýýäýã áèëýý.  

Êîìïàíèéí ç¿ãýýñ Áàéãàëü îð÷èíã õàìãààëàõàä 

÷èãëýñýí áîäëîãî áàðèìòëàäàã áºãººä ýíýõ¿¿ 

áîäëîãî íü Áàéãàëü îð÷íû áîäëîãûí áàðèìò 

áè÷ãýýð õýðýãæèæ áàéíà. Õàÿãäëûí 

ìåíåæìåíòèéã ñàéæðóóëàõ, óñíû íººö, 

øàòàõóóíûã õÿíàëòòàé àøèãëàõ, àñãàõààñ 

ñýðãèéëýõ ïðàêòèê áîëîí ººðèéí àæèëëàãñäàä 

áàéãàëü îð÷íû òàëààð óõàìñàðòàé àæèëëàõ 

ñóðãàëò çîõèîõ çàìààð áàéãàëü îð÷èíä ¿ç¿¿ëýõ 

íºëººíººñ ñýðãèéëýõ áîëîí ýðñäýëèéã 

áàãàñãàõ àæëûã õýðýãæ¿¿ëæ áàéíà.

 

Ýíýõ¿¿ çàõèäëûã áîëîâñðóóëæ ãàðàõ öàã ¿åòýé 

äàâõöàí Ìîíãîë óëñàä á¿õ íèéòèéí ñîíãóóëü 

òîõèîæ áàéíà. Ò¿¿í÷ëýí, Ãàäààäûí õºðºíãº 

îðóóëàëòûí òóõàé õóóëèéã ñàÿõàí ñî¸ðõîí 

áàòàëëàà. Óã õóóëèéí çàðèì çààëò ñýòãýë 

çîâîîæ áàéñàí õýäèé ÷ ýöñèéí õóâèëáàð íü 

¿íäýñíèé áîëîí ãàäààäûí õºðºíãº 

îðóóëàã÷äèéí àøèã ñîíèðõîëûí ¿¿äíýýñ 

õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõ áîëîìæ áàéãààã õàðóóëëàà.  

Ìîíãîë óëñ

îëîí íèéòýä õ¿ðãýõèéí òóëä õºðºíãº îðóóëàã÷ 

áîëîí áóñàä îðîëöîã÷ òàëóóäòàé õàðèëöààãàà 

õºãæ¿¿ëýõ à÷ õîëáîãäîëûã çàõèðëóóä ìýäýðñýí 

áèëýý. Macquire áîëîí RLM Finsbury êîìïàíèéã 

ñîíãîñîí íü ìàíàé êîìïàíèéí öààøäûí 

õºãæèë öýöýãëýëòýä øèíýëýã, ººð÷ëºëòèéã áèé 

áîëãîõîä íààøòàé àëõàì áîëñîí þì.

ÒÓÇ-èéí çàõèðëóóä êîìïàíè ñàéí çàñàãëàëòàé 

áàéõûí à÷ õîëáîãäîëûã á¿ðýí õ¿ëýýí 

çºâøººðäºã áºãººä óëìààð Êîìïàíèéí 

çàñàãëàë íèéãìèéí ¿éë àæèëëàãàà áîëîí 

Áàéãàëü îð÷íû õîðîîã 2010 îíä áàéãóóëëàà.

Õóóëü áîëîí õóóëèéí õýðýãæèëòèéã õÿíàí 

íèéö¿¿ëýõ õýëòñèéã 2011 îíä áàéãóóëæ, îëîí 

óëñûí õýìæýýíä ìýðãýøñýí õóóëü÷äèéí áàãèéã 

á¿ðä¿¿ëýí àæèëëàæ áàéíà. Óã õýëòýñ íü 

êîìïàíèéí çàñàãëàëûí àñóóäëóóäàä õÿíàëò 

òàâüæ, çºâëºõ ¿¿ðýãòýé áºãººä Ã¿éöýòãýõ 

çàõèðëûã ìýäýýëëýýð õàíãàäàã þì.

Êîìïàíèéí çàñàãëàëûí äàãóó áèäíèé õ¿ëýýæ 

áóé ¿¿ðãèéí òàëààð èë¿¿ òîäîðõîé ìýäýýëëèéã 

ýíýõ¿¿ òàéëàíãààñ ¿çýæ áîëíî.

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü ººðèéí ¿éë 

àæèëëàãààíààñ ¿¿äýí íèéãýìä ¿ç¿¿ëýõ íºëººã 

á¿ðýí óõàìñàðëàí àæèëëàäàã áºãººä IV, V 

áîëîí XX òàëáàéä ã¿éöýòãýæ áàéãàà õàéãóóëûí 

áîëîí ºðºìäëºãèéí ¿éë àæèëëàãààíààñ ¿¿äýõ 

íºëººíä ºðòºæ áàéãàà îðîí íóòãèéí íèéãìèéí 

õºãæèëä õóâü íýìýð îðóóëàõ ¿¿äíýýñ 

Íèéãìèéí ¿éë àæèëëàãààíû òºëºâëºãººã 

áîëîâñðóóëñàí þì. ¯éë àæèëëàãààãàà îëîí 

íèéòýä íýýëòòýé, èë òîä ÿâóóëæ òýäýíòýé íàéðñàã 

õàðèëöààòàé áàéæ õàìòðàí àæèëëàõ íü áèäíèé 

¿éë àæèëëàãààíû ñàëøã¿é ÷óõàë õýñýã þì.

Îëîí íèéòòýé íàéðñàã õàìòûí àæèëëàãàà 

òîãòîîæ àæèëëàñíààð îðîëöîã÷ á¿õ òàëóóä 

àøèã õ¿ðòýõ áîëîìæ á¿ðäýõ þì. Êîìïàíèéí  

òºëººëºë îðîí íóòãèéí óäèðäëàãàòàé òîãòìîë 

óóëçàëò çîõèîí áàéãóóëæ, îëîí íèéòýä ãàçðûí 

òîñíû õàéãóóë, êîìïàíèéí ¿éë àæèëëàãààíààñ 

¿¿äýí á¿ñ íóòàãò ¿ç¿¿ëæ áîëîõ íºëººíèé 

òàëààð óõóóëàí òàéëáàðëàæ ÷àðìàéí àæèëëàæ 

áàéíà.

Ìàíàé êîìïàíè íü Ãàçðûí òîñíû õýðýã ýðõëýõ 

ãàçàðòàé õàìòðàí ñóðãàëòûí òýòãýëýãò  

õºòºëáºð¿¿ä õýðýãæ¿¿ëæ áàéãààäàà áàõàðõäàã. 

Îëîí íèéòòýé õàðèëöàõ; Ýð¿¿ë ìýíä, 

àþóëã¿é àæèëëàãàà áà Áàéãàëü îð÷èí
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Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíè íü ººðèéí õàéãóóëûí 

¿éë àæèëëàãààã Ìîíãîë óëñàä ¿ðãýëæë¿¿ëýõ 

á¿ðýí áîëîìæòîé ãýäýãò áèä èòãýë òºãñ áàéãàà 

áºãººä óðüäûí àäèë õÿíàìãàé, èäýâõè 

ñàíàà÷èëãàòàé àæèëëàõ áîëíî. Ìîíãîë óëñ 

àðä÷èëñàí íèéãýìä áàéãàëèéí áàÿëãèéíõàà ¿ð 

øèìèéã õ¿ðòýí ÷ºëººò çàõ çýýëèéí ýäèéí 

çàñãèéí çàìààð ýðãýëò áóöàëòã¿é çàìíàíà 

ãýäýãò áèä ã¿íýý èòãýæ áàéíà.

Õ¿÷èéã ñîðüñîí èðýýä¿é áèäíèéã õ¿ëýýæ 

áàéãàà áºãººä õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷äèéí ºìíººñ 

ýíýõ¿¿ êîìïàíèéã óäèðäàí ÷èãë¿¿ëæ áàéãàà 

õ¿ì¿¿ñò áè á¿ðýí èòãýæ áàéíà. Çàõèðëóóä, 

óäèðäëàãóóä áîëîí àæèëëàãñàä íýãäýí 

íÿãòàð÷, ººðñäèéí óð ÷àäâàð, òóðøëàãà, àæèëä 

õàíäàõ ¸ñ ç¿é á¿õíýý êîìïàíèéí ñàéí ñàéõíû 

òºëºº çîðèóëæ áàéíà. Òà á¿õýíä óéãàã¿é, 

øàíòðàëã¿é àæèëëàæ èðñýíä òàëàðõàë 

èëýðõèéëýõèéí ÿëäàìä èðýýä¿éí õ¿÷èðõýã 

Ïåòðî Ìàòàä êîìïàíèéí òºëºº õàìòðàí 

ç¿òãýõäýý áàÿðòàé áàéíà.
 
Êîìïàíèéí ÒÓÇ-èéí äàðãà õàòàãòàé 

Îþóíãýðýëä òàëàðõàë èëýðõèéëüå. Áèäýíä  ýð÷ 

õ¿÷, óõààëàã çºâëºãºº áàéíãà ºã÷ ò¿øèã òóëãóóð 

áàéæ èðñýí áºãººä ò¿¿íèé ýíýõ¿¿ äýìæëýã 

òóñëàëöààã ñ¿¿ëèéí íàéìàí ñàðûí õóãàöààíä  

óëàì á¿ð ìýäýðñýí áèëýý.

Ýöýñò íü, áèäíèé ¿íýí÷ õóâüöàà ýçýìøèã÷èääýý 

õóâèàñàà áîëîí çàõèðëóóäûíõàà ºìíººñ 

òàëàðõàë èëýðõèéëüå.

Äóãëàñ ÌàêÃýé

Åðºíõèé Ã¿éöýòãýõ Çàõèðàë

Ýíýõ¿¿ õóóëèéí õýðýãæèëò, ò¿¿íèéã 

õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõ æóðàì ìàãàäã¿é õîéøèä õèéõ 

íýìýëò ººð÷ëºëò íü ¿¿íèé íîòîëãîî áîëíî 

ãýäýãò èòãýëòýé áàéíà.
 
Ýöýñò íü òýìäýãëýõýä ñ¿¿ëèéí 21 æèëèéí 

òóðøèä äîðâèòîé íýìýëò ººð÷ëºëò 

õèéãäýýã¿é îäîî ¿éë÷èëæ áóé Ãàçðûí òîñíû 

òóõàé õóóëèéã øèíý÷ëýõ íü ¿íäýñíèé íýí 

÷óõàë àñóóäàë áîëîí òàâèãäàæ áàéíà. 

Ìîíãîë óëñûí ãàçðûí òîñíû õàéãóóë áîëîí 

¿éëäâýðëýã÷äèéí àññîöèàöèéã áàéãóóëàõ 

àæëûí õºäºëãºã÷ õ¿÷ íü Ïåòðî Ìàòàä áàéæ, 

áóñàä êîìïàíèóäûí õàìò õóóëüä íýìýëò 

ººð÷ëºëò îðóóëàõ ¿éë ÿâöàä ¿ð ºãººæòýé 

ñàíàà áîäëîî îðóóëàõààð  óðèãäñàí þì. Ýíý 

¿éë ÿâö íü îäîî ¿ðãýëæèëæ áàéãàà áºãººä 

¿¿íèé ¿ð ä¿íä íü ¿íäýñíèé àøèã ñîíèðõîë 

áîëîí óëñ îðíû ãàçðûí òîñíû áàÿëãèéí 

õàéãóóëûã ºðãºæ¿¿ëýõ àñóóäëûã çîõèõ ¸ñîîð 

àíõààðñàí áîäèòîé, îð÷èí öàãèéí õóóëü 

ãàðíà ãýäýãò áèä èòãýëòýé áàéíà.
 

 
Êîìïàíèéí õóâüöààíû ºíººãèéí ¿íý 

çàõèðëóóäûí áîëîí ìèíèé ñàíààã çîâîîæ 

áàéãàà áºãººä ÿëàíãóÿà õóâüöààíû çàõ çýýëèéí 

áàéäàë ¿íäñýíäýý äîðîéòîæ, íåôòèéí ¿íý 

õàðüöàíãóé ìóó áàéãàà áîëîí äýëõèéí 

ñàíõ¿¿ãèéí çàõ çýýëèéí òîäîðõîéã¿é áàéäàë 

á¿õýëäýý ñàíàà çîâíèóëñàí õýâýýð áàéíà.
 
Çàõèðëóóä áîëîí êîìïàíèéí íèéò àæèëëàãñàä 

áèä ººðñäèéí õýìæýýíä íºëººëºõ áîëîìæòîé 

àæëóóäûã òîäîðõîéëîí õýðýãæ¿¿ëæ áàéãàà áà 

öààøèä ººðñäèéí õ¿÷ ÷àðìàéëòûã ãàðãàí 

õè÷ýýíã¿éëýí àæèëëàõ áîëíî.
 
Ìàíàé êîìïàíè îëíû àíõààðëûí òºâä áóé 

õàéãóóëûí òàëáàé ýçýìøäýã áèëýý. Áèä  

ñ¿¿ëèéí çóðãààí ñàðûí òóðøèä ÷àìëàõààðã¿é 

öàã õóãàöàà, õºðºíãº çàðöóóëæ, íººö 

áîëîìæîî àøèãëàí óð ÷àäâàðòàé áàãèéã 

á¿ðä¿¿ëñýí òóõàé ºìíº íü äóðäñàí áèëýý. Ìºí 

øààðäëàãàòàé ãàäààäûí ìýðãýæèëòíèé 

çºâëºëãººã àâ÷ àæèëëàæ áàéíà.
 
¯íýò áàÿëãèéã öààøèä ¿ð àøèãòàé íàðèéâ÷ëàí 

ñóäëàí, õàéãóóëûí àæëûã ýð÷èìæ¿¿ëýõ 

òåõíèêèéí àðãà çàìä ¿íýëãýý õèéí ñàíõ¿¿æèëò 

áîëîí ò¿íøëýëòýé õîñëóóëàõ çàìààð 

õºòºëáºð¿¿äèéã õýðýãæ¿¿ëýõ íºõöëèéã õàíãàí 

àæèëëàõûã çîðüæ áàéãàà áèëýý.

Ä¿ãíýëò
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Dr. Janchiv Oyungerel

Chair

Dr. Oyungerel graduated from the Institute of 

Petrochemical and Gas Industry, Moscow in 1979. She 

began her career as an economist at the Ulaanbaatar 

Oil Terminal and in 1982 became the Chief Economist 

at the Petroleum Supply Department at the Mongolian 

Ministry of Transportation where she was employed 

until 1991. In 1991, she was appointed the General 

Director of the Petroleum Import Concern of 

Mongolia and in 1994 became the General Director 

and Chair of the Board of Directors of the government 

owned company, Neft Import Company (NIC). In 

1996, she founded Petrovis LLC and was the General 

Director until January 2008 and has been Chair ever 

since. She has completed an Oil Economics and 

Marketing Program at the Arthur D. Little Institute in 

Cambridge, USA. In January 2007, she completed a 

doctorate in economics in Moscow, Russia. In 2010, 

she became a Non-Executive Director of Mongolian 

Mining Corporation (MMC) which is listed on the 

Hong Kong Stock Exchange. MMC is a high quality 

coking coal producer and exporter in Mongolia.



Ms. Amarzul is a Mongolian 

citizen, educated in Singapore 

and has a BA degree in Foreign 

Relations. She has worked in the 

Mongo l ian Government ' s  

Foreign Investment and Foreign 

Trade Agency (FIFTA). Ms. 

Amarzul joined the resources 

sector in Mongolia in 2003, 

holding senior management 

positions in private sector 

resource companies.
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Douglas John McGay

Chief Executive

Officer

Mr. McGay is a land, mining and engineering 
surveyor by profession. Between 1974 and 1988 he 
was the principal of his own practice, McGay 
Surveys. The head office was in Kalgoorlie, with 
offices and operations throughout Australia. 
Following the sale of McGay Surveys in 1988, he 
remained involved in the mining and mineral 
industry as a management consultant to 
international mining and exploration companies 
providing computer generated aerial mapping 
services. In 1997, he moved to Mongolia initially 
pursuing his profession, but then expanding to a 
general resource industry service consultancy, 
mainly as the Country Manager for mineral 
exploration companies. He was most recently 
involved in forming the Mongolian NGO, the 
“Minerals and Mining Development Foundation”, 
serving as founding Executive Director. In 2005, he 
was part of the formation of Central Asian 
Petroleum Corporation Limited. Mr. McGay lives in 
Mongolia.

Tuul Amarzul

Executive Director

of the Petro Matad

Mongolian subsidiaries
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Ms. Collins has over 30 years experience in 

international corporate banking, including 

extensive experience in Russia, Eastern Europe 

and Central Asia. She began her banking career 

with Chase Manhattan in New York, and 

subsequently with Security Pacific Bank (later 

Bank of America) in Los Angeles, London and 

Paris. She was Director for Corporate Recovery 

at the European Bank for Reconstruction and 

Development in London until 2005. Ms. Collins 

holds an MBA in Finance from Wharton and a 

BS in Foreign Service from Georgetown 

University, Washington, DC. She is non-

executive director for institutions in Latvia and 

Macedonia.

Mr. Evans was a career banker, having 

spent 37 years with National Australia 

Bank (NAB), where he was involved in 

senior leadership roles. He successfully led 

and managed NAB's Western Australian 

corporate banking centres, catering for 

NAB's large base of public listed industrial 

and natural resource companies.

Clyde Robert Evans

Non-Executive Director

Mary Ellen Collins

Non-Executive Director
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Ms. Enkhmaa is based in Mongolia and is an 

investment banker. She is currently Head of 

Country Coverage for Mongolia for Macquarie 

Capital Advisers. Ms. Enkhmaa has been with 

the Macquarie Group of companies for the last 

nine years with a focus in energy, resources and 

infrastructure sectors. Prior to her current role 

advising Macquarie Capital Advisers, Ms. 

Enkhmaa was a Managing Director responsible 

for risk management in the energy sector for 

Macquarie Group in the United States.

Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Non-Executive Director
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Dr. Vingoe has over 35 years' experience of the oil and gas 

industry, commencing in the technical arena and 

progressing to executive leadership. He began his career 

with BP, where he spent nearly 20 years and was Chief 

Geophysicist and General Manager for worldwide 

exploration.  In 1995, he moved to Australia to co-lead the 

IPO of an Australian independent, Novus Petroleum. Over 

the ensuing five years, the Company acquired a portfolio of 

assets across Asia, Africa and the Middle East. In 2000, he 

took up the role of Managing Director of Sasol Petroleum 

International (SPI) based initially in Johannesburg. In 2005, 

he joined Energy Equity Resources where he directed all the 

exploration and appraisal activity as well as communicating 

with investors and raising investment capital. During 2005 

and 2006, he was also a Non-Executive Director of the 

Canadian-listed company Pan-Ocean Energy Corporation 

Ltd. Pan-Ocean was sold to Addax for C$1.5 billion in 

September 2006. He left EER in November 2007 in order to 

establish Pan-Petroleum as its Chief Executive Officer and 

was instrumental in the subsequent merger and creation of 

Panoro Energy in mid 2010 - at which time he assumed his 

position of Non Executive Chairman of the Board. Panoro 

Energy is listed on the Oslo stock exchange and is focused 

on Brazil and West Africa.

Dr. Philip Arthur Vingoe

Non-Executive Director
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Dr. George

Edward Watkins CBE

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Skeels was educated as a geologist and has over 40 years' 

experience of working in the oil and gas industry. He spent 20 years at 

Conoco focusing on international upstream projects and has held a 

number of management positions, including Manager Exploration and 

Reservoir Management, West Siberia and Vice President and Manager 

Exploration, Indonesia where he was responsible for the Belida 

discovery in 1989. Mr Skeels then spent 10 years at BG Group where he 

was General Manager in Kazakhstan building the relationship 

between the company, the government and state agencies. He was 

recognized by the President of Kazakhstan for his contributions to the 

Kazakh oil and gas industry and was recorded in Who is Who in 

Kazakhstan. Recently he has been working with governments and 

state organisations across Eastern Europe and Azerbaijian.

Dr. Watkins holds a BSc in Mining, a PhD in 

Geophysics and an MSc in Management as well as an 

honorary degree of Doctor of Engineering DEng 

from Heriot Watt University. He has nearly 45 years' 

experience in the oil and gas industry. Dr Watkins 

began his career with Shell as a geophysicist in the 

Netherlands and Australia before moving to Conoco. 

He worked for Conoco for the next 30 years, 

starting as a geophysicist in the UK and then as Vice 

President Exploration and Production, North 

America. From 1993 until 2002 he was Chairman and 

Managing Director of Conoco UK Ltd.  For the last 10 

years, he has held a number of non-executive 

directorships at companies including Xtract Energy 

plc, Paladin Resources plc, Abbot Group plc, 

Production Services Network (PSN) Ltd and the 

Defence Procurement Agency. He is also a governor 

of the Robert Gordon University in Aberdeen.

David Daniel Skeels

Non-Executive Director



Your directors submit their report for the year 

ended 31 December 2011.

Petro Matad Limited ('Company”) a company 

incorporated in the Isle of Man on 30 August 

2007 has five wholly owned subsidiaries, 

including Capcorp Mongolia LLC and Petro Matad 

LLC (both incorporated in Mongolia), Central 

Asian Petroleum Corporation Limited (“Capcorp”) 

and Petromatad Invest Limited (both 

incorporated in the Cayman Islands), and Petro 

Matad Services Limited (incorporated in the Isle 

of Man). The Company and its subsidiaries are 

collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The names of the Company's directors in office 

during the year and until the date of this report 

are as below. Directors were in office for this 

entire year unless otherwise stated.

Gordon Leonard Toll
(resigned  27 January 2012)
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans 
John Campbell Robertson
(resigned 12 March 2012)
Davaadorj Sarangua (resigned 12 March 2012)
Mary Ellen Collins 
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
(resigned  20 May 2011)
Davaanyam Enkhmaa (appointed 20 May 2011)
David Daniel Skeels (appointed 12 March 2012)
Philip Arthur Vingoe (appointed 12 March 2012)
George Edward Watkins 
(appointed 12 March 2012)
Tuul Amarzul (appointed 19 March 2012)

The Group's principal activity in the course of the 

financial year consisted of oil exploration in 

Mongolia. During the year there were no significant 

changes in the nature of those activities.

 
The functional and presentation currency of Petro 

Matad Limited is United States Dollars (“$”). 

The net loss after tax for the Group for the 12 

months ended 31 December 2011 was $39.599 

million (31 December 2010: Loss $16.079 million).

During the year the Group focused on exploration 

activities on its Production Sharing Contracts 

Directors

Principal Activities 

Review and Results of Operations
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exercising options with an exercise price of $0.75 

per share. 

On 12 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

628,750 shares were awarded to directors and 

employees exercising options with an exercise 

price of GBP0.11 per share. 

On 21 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

142,447 shares were awarded to an employee 

exercising Performance Share Awards with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

On 21 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

25,000 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.11 per share. 

On 10 June 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

83,534 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising Performance Share Awards with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

On 10 June 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

7,500 shares were awarded to an employee 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.11 per share. 

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

563,000 options over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of 

GBP1.17, exercisable in three parts as follows:
 

33% after 5 July 2012;
33% after 5 July 2013;
34% after 5 July 2014.

 

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 60,000 

options over shares were granted to an employee 

with an exercise price per share of GBP1.17, 

exercisable in three parts on the anniversaries of her 

employment commencement dates. 

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

583,000 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to employees with an exercise price 

per share of $0.01.

The Performance Share Awards will vest on 

achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial 

scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial  

scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million 

barrels of oil.

(“PSC's”) with the Petroleum Authority of Mongolia 

(“PAM”) on Blocks IV, V and XX in Mongolia.

On 25 March 2011, pursuant to the Group's Long Term 

Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”), 191,479 shares were 

awarded to employees exercising Performance Share 

Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

519,100 options over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of 

GBP1.8167, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 6 April 2012;
33% after 6 April 2013;
34% after 6 April 2014.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 250,000 

options over shares were granted to employees with an 

exercise price per share of GBP1.8167, exercisable in 

three parts on the anniversaries of their employment 

commencement dates. 

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

707,800 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to employees with an exercise price 

per share of $0.01.
 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on 

achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a      

commercial scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a    

commercial scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 

million barrels of oil.
 

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

273,180 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to employees with an exercise price 

per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of 

the awards are tied to employment continuity and 

are available for vesting in three equal annual 

instalments on various dates commencing in 2012.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

20,176 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to employees with an exercise price 

per share of $0.01. The Performance Share 

Awards are available for vesting on various dates 

commencing in 2011.

On 12 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

50,000 shares were awarded to a director 

Changes in State of Affairs
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25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a        

commercial scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a      

commercial scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1  

million barrels of oil.

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 150,000 Performance Share Awards over 

shares were granted to an employee with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01. The 

performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for 

vesting in three equal annual instalments on 

various dates commencing in 2011.

On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 100,000 options over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of 

GBP0.1975, exercisable in three parts as 

follows:

33% after 5 December 2012;
33% after 5 December 2013;
34% after 5 December 2014.

On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 100,000 Performance Share Awards over 

shares were granted to employees with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

The Performance Share Awards will vest on 

achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a        

commercial scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a      

commercial scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1  

million barrels of oil.

On 13 February 2012, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 206,987 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising Performance Share Awards with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.
 

On 13 February 2012, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 11,250 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.11 per share. 
 

On 5 March 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

280,000 shares were awarded to a former 

director exercising Performance Share Awards 

with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

Significant Events after Reporting Date

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 94,123 

Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per 

share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the 

awards are tied to employment continuity and are 

available for vesting in three equal annual 

instalments on various dates commencing in 2012.

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

54,145 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to employees with an exercise price 

per share of $0.01. The Performance Share 

Awards are available for vesting on various dates 

commencing in 2011.

On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

97,497 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising Performance Share Awards with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

184,090 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.4616 per share.

On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

5,000 shares were awarded to an employee 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.11 per share. 

On 21 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 83,410 shares were awarded to employees 

exercising Performance Share Awards with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

On 21 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 5,000 shares were awarded to an employee 

exercising options with an exercise price of 

GBP0.11 per share. 

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 215,000 options over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of 

GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 22 November 2012;
33% after 22 November 2013;
34% after 22 November 2014.

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's 

Plan, 119,000 Performance Share Awards over 

shares were granted to employees with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

The Performance Share Awards will vest on 

achievement of the following conditions:

DIRECTOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Dividends

Future Developments

Indemnification of Officers and Auditors

Environmental Regulation

Rounding

No dividends have been paid or are proposed in 

respect of the 2011 year.

The Group will continue to pursue exploration 

projects within commercially proven areas of 

interest in Mongolia. 

The Group has not, during or since the financial 

year end, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 

officer or auditor of the Group against a liability 

incurred as such by an officer or auditor.  

The Group is required to carry out its activities in 

accordance with the petroleum laws and 

regulations in the areas in which it undertakes its 

exploration activities. The Group is not aware of 

any matter which requires disclosure with respect 

to any significant environmental regulation in 

respect of its operating activities.

The amounts contained in the annual financial 

report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 

(where rounding is applicable).

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the 

directors.

Clyde R Evans
Director
28 June, 2012

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

881,000 options over shares were granted to 

directors and employees with an exercise price 

per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts 

as follows:

33% after 25 April 2013;
33% after 25 April 2014;
34% after 25 April 2015.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 

options over shares were granted to an employee with 

an exercise price per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in 

three parts on the anniversaries of the employment 

commencement date.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

942,000 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to directors and employees with an 

exercise price per share of $0.01.

The Performance Share Awards will vest on 

achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a        

commercial scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a      

commercial scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1  

million barrels of oil.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

789,090 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to an employee with an exercise 

price per share of $0.01. The performance 

conditions of the awards are tied to employment 

continuity and are available for vesting in three 

equal annual instalments on various dates 

commencing in 2013.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

1,638 Performance Share Awards over shares 

were granted to an employee with an exercise 

price per share of $0.01. The Performance Share 

Awards are available for vesting on various dates 

commencing in 2012.

On 26 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

442,500 shares were awarded to former 

directors and employee exercising options with 

an exercise price of GBP0.11 per share. 

On 26 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 

505,447 shares were awarded to former directors 

and employee exercising Performance Share 

Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01.
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Petro Matad has 
embraced the concept of 
corporate governance 
since our listing on AIM 
in 2008 and has 
continually reviewed our 
standards of governance.



The Board is comprised of the following members 

at the date of this report:

Janchiv Oyungerel,
Non-executive Chair (Petrovis appointee)
Clyde Evans
Non-executive director
Mary Ellen Collins
Non-executive director (EBRD appointee)
Davaanyam Enkhmaa
Non-executive director (Petrovis appointee)
Philip Vingoe
Non-executive director (independent)
George Watkins
Non-executive director (independent)
David Skeels
Non-executive director (independent)
Douglas McGay
Chief Executive Officer
Tuul Amarzul
Executive Director (Director of the Company's   

Mongolian subsidiaries) 

Brief biographies of the directors are set out on 

p rs are re-elected at the 

Annual General Meetings on a rotational basis as 

per the Company's Articles of Associations. 

Whilst the 3 Independent Non-Executive Directors 

have been granted Options and Performance Share 

Awards to acquire shares in the Company, the 

amount of Options and Performance Share Awards 

granted are not significant so as to affect their 

independence. In the opinion of the Board, this 

aligns their objectives with those of shareholders and 

the Board considers that the 3 Independent Non-

Executive Directors can be classified as being 

independent. The Board's Chair, Dr J. Oyungerel is 

not considered independent because of her 

relationship with Petrovis; however, the Board 

considers the benefit of her experience, skills and 

capabilities, which are well known within the 

Mongolian business community, outweighs the 

benefits of appointing an independent Chair. 

The Board has not formally adopted performance 

evaluation procedures; however, the recent changes 

made to the Board demonstrate that the Board takes 

the effectiveness and efficiency of its Directors 

seriously and will continue to review its own 

performance and effectiveness in an informal way.

There is a clear division of responsibilities at Petro 

Matad through the separation of the positions of 

the Chair, Dr J. Oyungerel, and the CEO, Douglas 

McGay.  

ages 20-25. Directo

Board Processes

The Board is aware of the importance of good 

corporate governance and operates so that the 

Company is in compliance with the QCA Corporate 

Governance Guidelines for AIM Companies, to the 

extent considered applicable.  

A Corporate Governance Social Action and 

Environmental (CGSAE) Committee was formed in 

2010.  The Committee is charged, amongst other 

things, with overseeing and reviewing compliance 

and corporate governance issues.  

In 2011 the Company also established a Legal and 

Compliance Division and resourced it with a team 

of internationally qualified lawyers. This Division is 

charged with monitoring and advising on corporate 

governance matters and answers to the CEO.

“Petro Matad has embraced the concept of 

corporate governance since our listing on AIM in 

2008 and has continually reviewed our standards of 

governance. Board and management renewal over 

the past eight months have been made with the 

highest standards of corporate governance and our 

shareholders' values in mind. We will continue to 

supervise and implement such measures that are 

applicable for the size and operations of our 

Company.” – Chair, Dr. J. Oyungerel

The Board is comprised of 4 Non-Executive 

Directors (3 of whom are shareholder 

representatives), 3 Independent Non-Executive 

Directors and 2 Executive Directors. 

The changes made to the Board composition in the 

recent months were undertaken with the 

following factors in mind:

The principle of having an appropriate number   

of Independent Directors on the Board to oversee 

the interests of the Company and all shareholders
Ensuring that the Board has appropriate skills,   

experience and expertise with the appointment  

of 3 experienced oil industry professionals as     

Non-Executive Directors
Maintaining appropriate representation for two 

of the Company's major shareholders, Petrovis   

LLC (Petrovis) and the European Bank for         

Reconstruction and Development (EBRD)
Ensuring appropriate executive representation   

on the Board with the appointment of the        

Company's most senior Mongolian executive     

(T. Amarzul) upon the retirement of the former 

CFO, Clyde Evans from his executive role

Board of Directors and Composition

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Board Committees

Audit Committee

The Board has established an Audit Committee, a 

Remuneration Committee and a Corporate 

Governance Social Action and Environmental 

(CGSAE) Committee, each with formally 

delegated rules and responsibilities.  The Board has 

not established a separate Nomination Committee, 

as it currently deems this unnecessary, given the 

size of the Company. For any appointments to the 

Board, special working groups are formed to 

methodically appraise and consider candidates.  

Each of the Committees contains two independent 

non-executive directors, in accordance with the 

QCA Guidelines, and meets regularly and at least 

three times a year. Management executives and 

other individuals are invited to attend all or part of 

the Committee meetings as and when appropriate. 

 

The members of the Audit Committee in 2011 and 

up to the date of this report are as follows:
 

Chair
John Robertson (resigned on 12 March 2012)
Davaanyam Enkhmaa
(appointed Chair on 19 March 2012)

 

Members
Gordon Toll (resigned on 27 January 2012)
Davaadorj Sarangua (resigned on 12 March 2012)
Philip Vingoe (appointed 19 March 2012)
George Watkins (appointed 19 March 2012)

 

The Audit Committee met 3 times in 2011 and met 

with the Group's auditors, Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu in one of the meetings. The Audit 

Committee meetings are linked to events in the 

Group's financial calendar, including a review of 

the Company's annual and half yearly results, the 

Dr J. Oyungerel ensures the efficient and effective 

functioning of the Board and, together with the 

Board as a whole, is responsible to the 

shareholders for the proper management, 

development, leadership and protection of the 

Company's assets.  The roles of the Board and its 

Committees include but are not limited to, the 

establishment, review and monitoring of business 

and strategic plans, overseeing the Company's 

systems of internal control, governance and 

policies and protecting the shareholders' interests. 

 
The CEO is charged by the Board with the day to 

day operations of the Company and is responsible 

for the execution of strategy set by the Board and 

to act as an interface between the Board, 

management and employees to ensure that 

everyone at Petro Matad works towards upholding 

the Company's goals, vision and mission. The CEO 

works with a team of appropriately qualified 

management executives to achieve those goals.  
 

The Company, through its various communications 

with the public (website, news releases, annual 

reports, interviews, and presentations), also aims 

to communicate its goals, strategy and activities in 

a transparent and efficient manner. 
 

The Board and its Committees meet quarterly and as 

and when issues arise that requires the Board's 

attention. During 2011, all Board meetings were 

attended by the majority of Board members in office 

at the time. The Board also aims to meet and visit the 

Company's employees and operating sites 

periodically so as to adequately oversee and remain 

acquainted with the Company's operations.  The 

Board and its Committees are provided with detailed 

Board papers in advance of each Board meeting and 

receive regular management and financial reports.
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Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings in 2011:

1 Davaanyam Enkhchimeg resigned from the Board on 20 May 2011
2 Davaanyam Enkhmaa was appointed to the Board on 20 May 2011

Gordon Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas McGay
Clyde Evans
John Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins

1Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
2Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Total No. of Meetings

Audit
Committee

Meetings

Ad  hoc
Board 

Meetings

Scheduled
Board

Meetings

1/3
-
-
-

3/3
3/3

-
-
-

3

2/4
2/4
4/4
3/4
3/4
3/4
4/4
1/4

-

4

5/5
5/5
5/5
5/5
5/5
4/5
5/5
1/1
4/5

5

2/4
4/4

-
-

4/4
-
-
-
-

4

2/5
-
-
-
-
-

5/5
4/4
1/1

5

Remuneration
Committee

Meetings

CGSAE
Committee 

Meetings



management of the Company, and where appropriate 

overviews the broad issues of salary levels for all 

employees. The Company's remuneration policy is to 

facilitate the recruitment, retention and motivation 

of employees through appropriate remuneration in 

line with those prevailing in the market of similar 

positions and responsibilities taking into 

consideration qualifications and skills possessed. The 

Committee also makes recommendations to the 

Board regarding employee incentives and rewards 

under the share incentive schemes. The Committee 

reviews and recommends a framework for the 

remuneration of the Chair as well as the Non-

Executive Directors fees. The full details of the 

Company's remuneration policy and remuneration 

of directors are set out in the Remuneration Report 

on p

Corporate Governance, Social Action and 

Environmental (CGSAE) Committee 

The members of the CGSAE Committee in 2011 and 

up to the date of this report are as follows:

Chair
Mary Ellen Collins

Members
Gordon Toll (resigned on 27 January 2012)
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg (resigned on 20 May 2011)
Davaanyam Enkhmaa
(appointed 20 May 2011 and resigned on 19       

March 2012)
George Watkins (appointed 19 March 2012)
David Skeels (appointed 19 March 2012)

The CGSAE Committee met 5 times in 2011. The 

CGSAE Committee among other things: regularly 

reviews the Company's corporate governance and 

system of internal non-financial controls; assigns 

responsibilities for health, safety and environmental 

(HSE) matters and community liaison; reviews the 

application of the Company's social action policies 

and environmental policies and supervises the 

preparation of various reports in respect of these 

aspects of the Company's activities.  

The application of the Company's social action and 

HSE policies are detaile

The Board has responsibility for the Group's systems of 

internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness. 

The internal controls systems are designed to safeguard 

the assets of the Company, ensure compliance with 

ages 46-51. 

d on pages 43-45 and 37-41 

respectively. 

Internal Controls

review of the internal controls of the Group and 

ensuring that the financial performance of the 

Group is properly reported and monitored. The 

Audit Committee is responsible, inter alia, for: 

(a) considering the appointment of the auditors of 

the Group, their fees, any questions relating to the 

resignation or removal of the auditors and their 

objectivity and independence in the conduct of the 

audit, and reviewing the nature and extent of non-

auditing services provided by the auditors, seeking 

to balance the maintenance of objectivity and 

value for money; 

(b) discussions with the auditors before the audit 

commences on the nature and scope of the audit 

and subsequently reviewing the audit process; 

(c) monitoring the integrity of the financial 

statements of the Company and any formal 

announcements relating to the Company's financial 

performance, reviewing significant financial 

reporting judgments contained in them, including 

reviewing the half-yearly and annual financial 

statements before submission to the Board; 

(d) reviewing the Company's internal control 

systems; and 

(e) considering such other matters as the Board 

may from time to time refer to it. 

The Audit Committee meetings minutes are 

circulated to the Board and the Committee reports 

its findings to the Board and identifies any matters 

in respect of which it considers that action or 

improvement is needed. 

The members of the Remuneration Committee in 

2011 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Chair
Janchiv Oyungerel
(resigned as Chair on 12 March 2012)
Philip Vingoe (appointed Chair on 19 March 2012)

 

Members
Gordon Toll (resigned on 27 January 2012)
John Robertson (resigned on 12 March 2012)
Janchiv Oyungerel 
David Skeels (appointed 19 March 2012)

The Remuneration Committee met 4 times in 2011. 
The Remuneration Committee evaluates the scale 

and structure of remuneration for Executive Directors, 

reviews the CEO's recommendations for senior 

Remuneration Committee

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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Business Conduct and Ethics

Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy (ABCP)

Insurance

Share Dealing Code

Shareholder and Investor Relations

Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI)

The EITI is a global initiative in which extractive 

industries, governments and civil society, all work 

together for greater transparency. Improved 

financial transparency of extractive industries 

operating in the country would enable 

governments to better manage its natural resource 

wealth for the benefit of a country's citizens.  

Mongolia is one of the countries compliant with 

the EITI. Therefore the Company's Mongolian 

subsidiaries have cooperated with the government 

in this respect and participated in the transparency 

report prepared by the Mongolian government. 

At the enactment of the Bribery Act 2010, the 

Company's legal counsels undertook extensive 

review of the Act and the Board has accordingly 

adopted an ABCP, including training to its staff to 

ensure that the business integrity and ethics are 

upheld within the operations of the Company at all 

levels for a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and 

corruption. 

 

The Group maintains insurance in respect of its 

Directors and officers against liabilities in relation 

to the Company.

 

The Company has adopted a model code for 

dealing in ordinary shares by directors and 

employees which is appropriate for an AIM-

quoted company.

 

The Board remains committed to maintaining 

communication with its shareholders. The Company 

maintains a website for the purpose of improving 

information flow to shareholders as well as potential 

investors. All press announcements and financial 

statements as well as extensive operational 

information about the Group's activities are made 

available on the website. Enquiries from individual 

shareholders on matters relating to their 

shareholdings and the business of the Group are 

welcomed through the Company's website and 

other methods of communication. Shareholders are 

also encouraged to attend the Annual General 

Meeting to discuss the progress of the Group.

applicable laws and regulations and internal policies with 

respect to the conduct of business and the reliability of 

financial information for both internal use and external 

publication. The Board has delegated management for 

the implementation of material internal control system 

and reviews policies and procedures through regular 

updates from management. A budgeting process is in 

place for all material items of expenditures, especially 

major exploration expenditures and an annual budget is 

approved by the Board. All major expenditures require 

senior management approval at the appropriate stages 

of each transaction. Actual versus budgeted expenditure 

data and the Company's cash position is monitored on a 

monthly basis. Whilst the Board is aware that no system 

can provide absolute assurance against material 

misstatement or loss, continuing reviews of internal controls 

will be undertaken to ensure that they are adequate and 

effective and the Board considers that the system of 

internal control operated effectively throughout the year. 

The principal risks facing the Group are set out below. 

This list is not exhaustive and investors should be aware 

that additional risks which were not known to the 

Directors at the date of this report, or that the Directors 

considered at the date of this report to be immaterial, 

may also have a material adverse effect on the financial 

condition, performance or prospects of the Company, 

and the market price of Company' shares. The Board 

acknowledges that risk assessment and evaluation is an 

essential part of the Group's planning and an important 

aspect of the Group's internal control system.

Exploration and development risks associated with  

the Company's objectives of oil exploration and  

future development and production in Mongolia 

and other risks inherent in all junior oil and gas    

exploration companies
Weakness and movements in the equity and      

share markets in the United Kingdom and throughout 

the world including changes in market sentiments   

towards the resource industry
Currency exchange rate fluctuations and in,      

particular the relative prices of the Mongolian    

Tugrug (MNT), USD and GBP
Changes in government policy, laws and regulations
Political and country risks
Ability to raise sufficient funds to continue       

exploration efforts on its assets 
Occupational Health, Safety and Environmental    

requirements
Regulatory and compliance obligations
Legal risks relating to contracts, licenses and     

agreements
Attraction and retention of key employees

Risk Management
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In 2011 Petro Matad 
achieved a remarkable 
safety milestone in 
recording 665,336 
worked man-hours 
without a lost-time 
injury for Petro Matad's 
staff, contractors, sub-
contractors and 
consultants.



Health and Safety Policy

The Petro Matad Health and Safety Policy is based on 

a belief that the well-being of people employed at 

work, or people affected by the Company's activities 

is a major priority and must be considered a priority at 

all times. People are the Company's most important 

priority and their health and safety are accorded 

proper attention. Third parties and the public are 

given equal status to that of employees. 
 

The Company's Health and Safety Policy aims to:
 

Achieve an accident-free workplace
Make health and safety an integral part of    

every managerial and supervisory position
Ensure health and safety is considered in all   

planning and work activities
Involve employees in the decision-making     

processes through regular communication,   

consultation and training
Provide a continuous programme of education 

and learning to ensure that employees work   

in the safest possible manner
Identify, manage and control all potential     

hazards in the workplace through hazard      

identification and risk analysis
Ensure all potential accidents and incidents   

are controlled and prevented
Provide effective injury management
Comply with the relevant occupational health  

and safety laws, regulations, guidelines and  

project requirements specified by the regulators

Petro Matad has developed an effective Health, 

Safety and Environment Management System 

(HSE Management System) to international 

standards. Following its implementation and 

integration, it has been monitored with a view to 

continual upgrading and improvement.  

The Company understands that HSE training is an 

effective instrument for transferring and sharing 

safety and environmental expertise and ensures 

that adequate HSE training is conducted for all its 

management and employees. Petro Matad has 

developed a specific training matrix which sets 

out the minimum requirements for the 

implementation of the HSE Management System 

and the courses. The course schedules in the 

matrix are designed to suit the Company's needs.  
 
The courses are divided into two categories: Type 

A (Approved Professional HSE Courses) and Type 

B (Standard HSE Courses). Type A courses are 

conducted by accredited third-party 

organisations and at the end of the course 

approved professional certificates are issued to 

participants. A final assessment or scheduled 

refreshment courses may be required, depending 

on the course provider and accredited training 

programme. Type B courses are non-accredited 

and are conducted by in-house trainers or third 

party organisations. In 2011, Petro Matad staff 

attended over 190 HSE training hours.

HEALTH SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
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Management System are adhered to by its 

contractors and sub-contractors. As a result of 

this policy the Petro Matad HSE team conducted 

a high level HSE Management System Audit of its 

drilling contractor, DQE International (DQE) 

covering all aspects of their activities.  The 

purpose of the audit was to:
 

Evaluate DQE drilling operations in terms of   

HSE standards and procedures 
Review the DQE HSE system and their practicality
Evaluate the effectiveness of the                

implementation of the DQE's HSE Plan when  

compared and integrated with the Petro       

Matad HSE Management System.

Petro Matad is committed to conserving and 

protecting the environment in the areas in 

which it operates. The Company achieves this 

through:

Adhering to state-approved environmental   

impact assessment plans and all Mongolian   

environmental legislation
Ensuring adequate awareness training is       

conducted for Petro Matad staff and contractors  

and local communities in areas of operation
Adherence to standard international           

environmental protection practices, such as   

the guidelines published by the World Bank

Commitment to Environment

Petro Matad's vision and commitment to safety, 

and ensuring incident and injury free workplace for 

its employees are specified in the 2011 Health and 

Safety Plan. A detailed management programme 

was also developed and implemented to achieve 

the Plan's objectives. The 2011 Health and Safety 

Plan's main objectives are to: 

Continue to improve and enhance safety culture
Ensure zero fatalities 
Reduce the number of total recordable injuries.

In 2011 Petro Matad achieved a remarkable safety 

milestone in recording 665,336 worked man-hours 

without a lost-time injury for Petro Matad's staff, 

contractors, sub-contractors, and consultants. This 

was in a year when the Company had a very high 

level of field activity and a record number of 

employees. 11 wells and four drill holes were drilled 

and 1861 kilometres of seismic line were shot, 

along with geological expeditions.  

This achievement, combined with a Total 

Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR) fulfils 

the overall target set for the Group. The 2011 Health 

and Safety Plan also focused on safety on the road 

through Driving Safety Campaigns and regular 

vehicle inspections. Over 3,000,000 vehicle 

kilometres were recorded without a major accident. 

The Company is committed to ensuring that the 

high standards and best practices of the HSE 
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the volume or relative toxicity of liquid or solid 

wastes is applied to the extent practicable. 

Moreover, best practice procedures are applied 

in segregation, collection and transportation of 

wastes. Waste generated is clearly labelled and 

identified when stored and transported. As a 

general rule, different waste types are not 

mixed during storage except when their 

methods of disposal are similar and special 

caution is used for hazardous wastes, keeping 

the incompatible materials segregated from 

each other. Storage areas for waste are 

designed to retain spills and leakages so as to 

avoid the contamination of land and 

groundwater resources. 

As one of the 2011 environmental initiatives, 

Petro Matad committed to studying the 

estimated emissions into the air caused by the 

consumption of fuel. The analysis aimed to 

compare the emission factors with emission 

parameters used by the local and international 

regulatory standards in order to identify reliable 

and accurate emission coefficients to be used for 

future emission estimations. 

Petro Matad also aims to maintain and conserve 

biodiversity across areas of the Company's 

operations through collaboration with its 

subcontractors and local authorities, and 

through ensuring that the disturbance on various 

species of flora and fauna is prevented or 

minimised, especially in areas of critical habitats. 

Air Quality

Maintaining Biodiversity

The development of, and adherence to, an    

environment management system
Constant and consistent research into new    

environmental protection practices
Ensuring all preventive, mitigation and         

restoration measures are strictly adhered to   

by all Petro Matad staff and contractors

The Environmental Policy adopted by Petro Matad 

underlines the management's commitment to the 

protection of the environment. This is achieved by 

the adoption of sound practices such as preventing 

or minimising disturbances or negative impact on 

the environment through improved waste 

management, controlled use of water resources 

and fuels, spill prevention practices and 

environmental awareness training for its 

employees. Petro Matad has successfully restored 

and reclaimed most of the drill sites and did not 

require the services of external service companies 

or chemicals for the reclamation. Those not yet 

fully restored are being worked upon in the 

prescribed manner. The reclaimed drill sites and 

other restoration activities have been inspected and 

accepted by the appointed Governmental 

environmental inspectors. 

It is Petro Matad's highest priority to prevent oil and 

chemical spills during its operations. This is achieved 

through the implementation of risk assessment 

programmes and the adoption of various preventive 

measures. The Company's environmental team 

ensures that spill clean up material (spill kit) and 

suitable personal protective equipment are always 

available and stored at each site.

Petro Matad adopted a Waste Management 

Strategy to ensure that waste disposals follow 

best practice and standards. The Petro Matad 

Waste Management Plan identifies all wastes 

that can potentially damage human health 

and/or the environment, and involves 

implementing special controls for the safe 

handling and disposal of such wastes. The 

Company strives to reduce or eliminate the 

generation of waste from its operations 

through reusing and recycling/recovering 

materials in an economic and environmentally 

responsible manner, and in compliance with 

local authority regulations. The minimisation of 

Spills

Waste Management
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Petro Matad is committed 
to conserving and protecting 
the environment in the 
areas in which it operates.





Through meaningful 
engagement with 
communities, we identify 
opportunities to make 
contributions that are 
beneficial to all 
stakeholders.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILTY

Petro Matad receives requests for assistance towards 

projects and developments through the Community 

Reference Groups, or through local assistance request 

forms. The Company carefully considers and selects 

projects that are consistent with our SAP. In 2011, 

Petro Matad spent a total of MNT63million 

(equivalent to approximately USD47,000) in the 3 

Aimags and 15 Soums covered by Blocks IV and V on 

projects which aimed to reduce poverty, as well as 

improve education, health awareness and the 

protection of  the environment.

In 2011, the Government of Mongolia conducted 

a campaign to improve public physical training 

and social health. Bearing this in mind, Petro 

Matad implemented the following projects through 

its SAP:

The establishing of a fully equipped gym in    

the Guchin-Us Soum of Uvurkhangai Aimag  

and the Immigration Office of Mongolia in           

Ulaanbaatar; 
The provision of an ultrasound apparatus to   

Tugrug Soum Hospital of Uvurkhangai Aimag;
The provision of medication, anesthetics,      

medical supplies and dental care equipment   

for the treatment of children at the Biger      

Soum Hospital of Uvurkhangai Aimag. 

Petro Matad has implemented a significant 

number of projects in an effort to improve 

education and encourage information sharing, 

providing the following:

A laptop, a printer, a projector, tables and     

chairs to facilitate the creation of an anti-      

crime centre at the Bogd Soum Police           

Department in Bayankhongor Aimag; 
Tables, chairs, computers, a printer and a      

television to the new recreational, media and  

learning room of the Bayan-Ovoo Soum        

school's dormitory in Bayankhongor Aimag; 
Personal computers to the ecology studies     

room of Bumbugur Soum's Youth               

Development Centre in Bayankhongor Aimag; 
A laptop, a printer and a projector to the       

medical information sharing room of           

Nariinteel Soum's hospital in Uvurkhangai Aimag; 
New seating for the new Cultural Palace in     

Khairkhandulaan Soum in Uvurkhangai Aimag; 
A new playground for Bayangol Soum's        

kindergarten in Uvurkhangai Aimag 

Improving Health Awareness

Improving Education

At Petro Matad, we are aware of the social 

impact of our operations and have developed and 

adopted a Social Action Plan (SAP) to contribute 

to the social developments of communities 

located near and impacted by our exploration and 

drilling activities in Blocks IV, V and XX. We 

believe that operating openly and transparently in 

the community is integral to developing and 

maintaining positive relationships.
 
Through meaningful engagement with 

communities, we identify opportunities to make 

contributions that are beneficial to all 

stakeholders. Company representatives meet 

frequently with the local authorities and strive to 

educate the community on oil exploration, as well 

as our planned activities and the possible impact 

on their community. The Company emphasises 

the delivery of meaningful assistance to 

communities.  Our social development policies 

are focused on the quality and comfort of local 

community life through the support of local 

development plans, rather than through 

providing temporary reliefs.

Block XX is located in eastern Mongolia and 
1 2covers Matad Soum  of Dornod Aimag  and 

Erdenetsagaan Soum of Sukhbaatar Aimag. In 

2011, we spent a total of MNT34million 

(equivalent to approximately USD25,000) in the 

region. This included the purchase and installation 

of playgrounds in Matad and Erdenetsagaan 

Soums, the provision of a laptop and a printer to 

the Sukhbaatar Aimag Police Department and the 

provision of assistance to the Dornod Emergency 

Office Branch for the organisation of a drilling 

competition in the eastern region of Mongolia.
 
Petro Matad, through its subsidiary, Central Asian 

Petroleum Corporation Limited was successfully 

granted the Production Sharing Contracts on 

Blocks IV and V in July 2009. The two blocks 
2currently cover over 50,000km  in area and 

spread over 3 Aimags (Uvurkhangai, 

Bayankhongor and Gobi-Altai) and 19 Soums. In 

the Soums where our operations are 

concentrated, we have established Community 

Reference Groups consisting of local citizen 

representatives, environmental officers, officers 

from other authorities (such as the police force) 

and other stakeholders (such as business 

representatives), as well as the Petro Matad 

Community Relations officers, in order to 

meaningfully engage with the communities.

1 A “Soum” is a sub-province of an Aimag.
2 An “Aimag” is a Mongolian province.



and in the renovation of the classrooms dedicated 

to the Geology and Petroleum Engineering 

faculty at the University. 

Petro Matad committed to awarding scholarships 

to students studying Geology and Petroleum 

Engineering at the National University of 

Mongolia and the Mongolian Science and 

Technology University. Scholarships vary from 

MNT 500,000 to MNT 1 million (equivalent to 

approximately USD380 to USD760) per student 

which are contributed towards their tuition fees. 

To date, we have awarded a total of MNT 

80.6million (equivalent to approximately 

USD61,000) to 128 students.

We are also committed to providing employment 

and career development opportunities to citizens 

of local communities where we operate. Besides 

offering part time positions to employees at our 

camp on Block XX, we have offered internships in 

Ulaanbaatar to university students studying in 

various fields. The internship positions are 

offered to students who are originally from the 

Aimags in which Petro Matad operates. To date, 

we have offered internship positions to 11 students 

in our Accounting, Community Relations, Drilling 

and Environmental departments and onsite on 

Block XX. The interns successfully completed their 

internships and some students have subsequently 

been offered full time employment with our 

Group companies.

Environmental Protection

Reducing Poverty and Improving Lives

Petro Matad assisted in the cleaning up of a 

dumpsite in Batsagaan Soum in Bayankhongor 

Aimag and Baruunbayan-Ulaan Soum in 

Uvurkhangai Aimag to protect the environment, 

as well as the health of the community. The 

Company also fenced off the seabuckthorn 

plantation in Buutsagaan Soum of Bayankhongor 

Aimag in an effort to protect it from livestock 

and humans.  There are currently on-going 

projects to protect the water spring from 

sandstorm pollution in Jinst Soum of 

Bayankhongor Aimag and to prevent a water 

wellhead from freezing in winter in Chandmani 

Soum in Gobi-Altai Aimag. 

New furniture was provided to replace ancient 

furniture of Baruunbayan-Ulaan Soum's 

administration office in Uvurkhangai Aimag in 

order to improve the working environment of 

public servants serving the community. Petro 

Matad also provided gers (Mongolian tents) to 5 

single-mother families who were homeless and 

suffering from poverty.

Apart from working with the local communities, 

Petro Matad also assisted in the publication of 

'Petroleum Drilling Machinery and Mechanism' 

textbooks, used as educational, teaching material 

at the Mongolian Science and Technology University 





The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed a Remuneration Committee for the purposes of 

establishing a framework for setting and maintaining remuneration at appropriate levels in the Group.

The Remuneration Committee has been comprised of the following members during the year and until the 

date of this report.

Janchiv Oyungerel (retired as Chairperson 19 March 2012)
Gordon Leonard Toll (resigned 27 January 2012)
John Campbell Robertson (resigned 12 March 2012)
Philip Arthur Vingoe (appointed a member & Chairperson 19 March 2012)
David Daniel Skeels (appointed 19 March 2012) 

The Committee's objective is to meet at least twice a year and as at such other times as the Committee 

Chairperson shall require in accordance with the formal “Terms of Reference for the Remuneration 

Committee” approved by the Board of Directors on 24 April 2008. 

The Committee determines and agrees with the Board on behalf of the shareholders the broad policy for the 

remuneration of the Company's Chairman, the Chief Executive of the Company, the executive directors and 

such other members of the executive management as it is designated to consider.  No director or manager is 

involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration.

In determining the policy, the Committee takes into account all factors which it deems necessary. The 

objective of such policy is to ensure that members of the management of the Group are provided with 

appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced performance and are, in a fair and responsible manner, 

rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of the Group.

The Committee approves the design of, and determine targets for, any performance related pay schemes 

operated by the Group and approve the total annual payments made under such schemes.

The Committee approves the design of all share incentive plans for approval by the Board and shareholders. 

For any such plans, the Committee determines each year whether awards will be made, and if so, the overall 

amount of such awards, the individual awards to any executive directors and other senior executives and the 

performance targets to be used.

The Committee determines the policy for, and scope of, pension arrangements for any executive directors 

and other senior executives. Currently the Group has not adopted any policy for pension arrangements.

The Committee ensures that contractual terms on termination of employment of any executive directors, and 

any payments made, are fair to the individual, and the Group, that failure is not rewarded and that the duty 

to mitigate loss is fully recognised.

Within the terms of the agreed policy and in consultation with the Chief Executive as appropriate, the 

Committee determines the total individual remuneration package of each executive director including 

bonuses, incentive payments and share options or other share awards.

In determining such packages and arrangements, the Committee gives due regard to any relevant legal 

requirements, the provisions and recommendations in the UK Corporate Governance Code and the London 

Stock Exchange's AIM Rules for Companies and associated guidance. The Committee also gives due 

consideration to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The Committee reviews up-to-date remuneration information on companies of a similar size in a comparable 

industry sector, as well as on other companies within the same group as the Group and ensures that 

automatic increases are not implemented without considering relative performance and judging the 

implications carefully.

Remuneration Policy
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The Committee reviews and notes annually the remuneration trends across the Group.

The Committee is aware of and oversee any major changes in employee benefit structures throughout the 

Group.

The Committee ensures that all provisions regarding disclosure of remuneration, including pensions, are 

fulfilled.

The Committee is exclusively responsible for establishing the selection criteria, selecting, appointing and 

setting the terms of reference for any remuneration consultants who advise the Committee, and for 

obtaining reliable, up-to-date information about remuneration in other companies. The Committee has full 

authority to commission any reports or surveys which it deems necessary to help it fulfil its obligations.

The Committee gives guidance to the executive management in setting the levels of remuneration for the 

Group.

The Committee reviews the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy.

The Group provides long term incentives to employees (including executive directors), non-executive directors 

and consultants through the Group's Plan based on the achievement of certain performance criteria. The Plan 

provides for share awards in the form of options and conditional Performance Share Awards. The incentives are 

awarded at the discretion of the Board, or in the case of executive directors, the Remuneration Committee of the 

Board, who determine the level of award and appropriate vesting, service and performance conditions taking into 

account market practice and the need to recruit and retain the best people.

Options may be exercised, subject only to continuing service, during such period as the Board may determine. 

Performance Share Awards shall vest subject to continuing service and appropriate and challenging 

performance conditions determined by the Remuneration Committee relating to the overall performance of 

the Group. 

(a) Details of Directors 

The names of the Company's directors, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the Group, in office during the year and until the date of this report are as below:

The directors were in office for this entire year unless otherwise stated.

Directors
Gordon Leonard Toll Non-executive Co-Chairperson Resigned 27 January 2012
Janchiv Oyungerel Non-executive Co-Chairperson Appointed Chairperson on 27 January 2012
Douglas John McGay Chief Executive Officer
Clyde Robert Evans Chief Financial Officer
John Campbell Robertson Non-executive Director Resigned 12 March 2012
Davaadorj Sarangua  Non-executive Director Resigned 12 March 2012
Mary Ellen Collins Non-executive Director
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg Non-executive Director Resigned 20 May 2011
Davaanyam Enkhmaa Non-executive Director Appointed 20 May 2011
David Daniel Skeels Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
Philip Arthur Vingoe Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
George Edward Watkins Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
Tuul Amarzul Executive Director Appointed 19 March 2012

On 16 April 2012, Clyde Robert Evans retired as Chief Financial Officer, while continuing on in a role as a Non-

executive Director. John Rene Henriksen was appointed Chief Financial Officer on the same date.

Long Term Equity Incentive Plan

REMUNERATION REPORT (UNAUDITED)
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(b) Compensation of Directors 

 
The short-term employment benefits were paid to directors and associated entities of the directors.

Directors' compensation includes consultancy service payments of $290,748 (2010: $202,278) paid to a 

company associated with Douglas John McGay and consultancy service payments of $123,420 (2010: 

$91,605) paid to a company associated with Clyde Robert Evans.

Mary Ellen Collins, who serves as a non-executive director to the Company under the nomination of the 

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”), commenced receiving remuneration from the 

Company from 15 July 2011. Before 15 July 2011, Ms Collins was paid a fee by EBRD for her role, and under 

those arrangements, the Company is not required to reimburse EBRD for Ms Collins' services.

Directors are not entitled to any termination or retirement benefits.

(c) Shareholdings of Directors and their related parties
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Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share based payment expense

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

663
-

944

1,607

939
-

1,015

1,954

874
-

1,015

1,889

602
-

934

1,536

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Directors
Gordon Leonard Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Total

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

52
47

263
214

32
32

-
23

-

663

64
64

356
288

48
48
22
19
30

939

64
64

291
288

48
48
22
19
30

874

52
47

202
214

32
32

-
23

-

602

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Directors

Gordon Leonard Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg

Total

Acquired
and

(Disposed)

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-10

-
-

(1,950,000)
200,000
200,000

-
-

2,350,000

800,000

5,102,501
6,335,000
5,750,000
3,782,377

150,000
-
-

200,000

21,319,878

-
125,000
175,000

-
-

75,000
-
-

375,000

5,102,501
6,460,000
3,975,000
3,982,377

350,000
75,000

-
2,550,000

22,494,878

Options
Exercised

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-10For the year ended 31 December 2010



All transactions with directors other than those arising from the exercise of options have been entered into under 

terms and conditions no more favourable than those the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm's length.

Pursuant to the definition of Director's Family within AIM Rules for Companies, the respective holdings of 

Janchiv Oyungerel and Petrovis LLC (”Petrovis”) are aggregated on account of Janchiv Oyungerel's 

shareholding of over 20% in Petrovis. The holdings as set out above are the direct interests of Janchiv 

Oyungerel. However, when applying AIM Rules for Companies, the holdings of Petrovis and Janchiv 

Oyungerel are treated on an aggregated basis and the aggregated holding is treated as a Director's interest.

(d) Options holdings of Directors 

 

Davaanyam Enkhchimeg's holdings lapsed subsequent to her resignation on 20 May 2011.

REMUNERATION REPORT (UNAUDITED) (CONTINUED)
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Directors

Gordon Leonard Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Total

Acquired
and

(Disposed)

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-11

-
-

(175,000)
-
-
-
-
-
-

(175,000)

5,102,501
6,460,000
3,975,000
3,982,377

350,000
75,000

-
2,550,000

-

22,494,878

-
125,000
175,000
200,000

-
75,000

-
25,000

-

600,000

5,102,501
6,585,000
3,975,000
4,182,377

350,000
150,000

-
2,575,000

-

22,919,878

Options
Exercised

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-11For the year ended 31 December 2011

Directors

Gordon Leonard Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg

Total

Granted
as

Remuneration

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-10

675,000
600,000

1,075,000
800,000
450,000
325,000
125,000
100,000

4,150,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
(125,000)
(175,000)

-
-

(75,000)
-
-

(375,000)

175,000
225,000
550,000
400,000
150,000
100,000
125,000
100,000

1,825,000

500,000
500,000
700,000
400,000
300,000
300,000

-
-

2,700,000

550,000
600,000

1,075,000
700,000
375,000
325,000
125,000
100,000

3,850,000

125,000
-
-

100,000
75,000

-
-
-

300,000

Not Vested &
Not

Exercisable
Options

Exercised
Vested &

Exercisable

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-10
Options
Lapsed

For the year ended
31 December 2010

Directors

Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Total

Gordon Leonard Toll

Granted
as

Remuneration

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-11

675,000
475,000
900,000
600,000
450,000
250,000
125,000

-
150,000

3,625,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(100,000)
-

(100,000)

-
(125,000)
(175,000)
(200,000)

-
(75,000)

-
-
-

(575,000)

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

150,000

150,000

675,000
600,000

1,075,000
800,000
450,000
325,000
125,000
100,000

-

4,150,000

242,250
275,750
543,500
368,000
175,500
142,000

83,750
-

150,000

1,980,750

432,750
199,250
356,500
232,000
274,500
108,000

41,250
-
-

1,644,250

Not Vested &
Not

Exercisable
Options

Exercised
Vested &

Exercisable

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-11
Options
Lapsed

For the year ended
31 December 2011



(e) Performance Share Awards holdings of Directors 

 

75,000 of Davaanyam Enkhchimeg's holding lapsed subsequent to her resignation on 20 May 2011.
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Directors

Gordon Leonard Toll
Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg

Total

Granted
as

Remuneration

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-10

425,000
475,000
600,000
400,000
300,000
250,000
125,000
100,000

2,675,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

175,000
225,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
125,000
100,000

1,325,000

250,000
250,000
350,000
200,000
150,000
150,000

-
-

1,350,000

425,000
475,000
600,000
400,000
300,000
250,000
125,000
100,000

2,675,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Not Vested &
Not

Exercisable
Awards

Exercised
Awards
Lapsed

Vested &
Exercisable

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-10

For the year ended
31 December 2010

Directors

Janchiv Oyungerel
Douglas John McGay
Clyde Robert Evans
John Campbell Robertson
Davaadorj Sarangua
Mary Ellen Collins
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg
Davaanyam Enkhmaa

Total

Gordon Leonard Toll

Granted
as

Remuneration

Balance as
at

 01-Jan-11

425,000
475,000
600,000
400,000
300,000
250,000
125,000

-
150,000

2,725,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(25,000)
-

(25,000)

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(75,000)
-

(75,000)

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

150,000

150,000

425,000
475,000
600,000
400,000
300,000
250,000
125,000
100,000

-

2,675,000

425,000
475,000
600,000
400,000
300,000
250,000
125,000

-
150,000

2,725,000

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

Not Vested &
Not

Exercisable
Awards

Exercised
Awards
Lapsed

Vested &
Exercisable

Balance as
at 

31-Dec-11

For the year ended
31 December 2011



The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Continuing operations
Revenue
Interest income

Other comprehensive income
Exchange rate differences on translating foreign operations

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Expenditure
Consultancy fees
Depreciation and amortisation 
Employee benefits expense
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Other expenses

Loss from continuing operations before income tax

Income tax expense/(benefit)

Loss from continuing operations after income tax

(39,599)

-

(39,599)

(39,599)

(39,599)

(40,208)

21.5

(6,956)

-

(6,956)

( )6,956

( )6,956

( )6,956

-

(16,079)

-

(16,079)

(16,079)

(16,079)

(16,147)

10.5

(4,575)

-

(4,575)

(4,575)

(4,575)

(4,575)

-

199
174

9,892
27,807

2,912

189
27

6,173
-

662

104
56

4,110
9,579
2,278

86
13

3,578
4

895

Net (loss) for the year

Loss attributable to owners of the parent

Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of the parent

Loss per share (cents per share)
Basic and diluted loss per share

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

48

(68)

1,385

(609)

4(a)

4(b)

4(d) 

5

6

48

(68)

(16,147)

1,385

(609)

(40,208)

95

-

95

-

( )6,956

1

-

1

-

(4,575)

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

4(c)
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The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and other assets

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Annual leave provision

Non-Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Exploration and evaluation assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries

Total Current Assets

Total Current Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

TOTAL EQUITY

Total Non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

15,477
316
729

51,690
88

354

97,187
6,232

(72,449)

95,466
3,900

(32,930)

1,952
24

1,421
-

-
15,275

1,149
-

-
15,275

450
-

16,522 52,132

1,976 1,421

1,976 1,421

30,970 66,436

30,970 66,436

16,424 15,725

32,946 67,857

801 29,069

123 127

123 127

88,532 90,746

88,532 90,746

87,854 61,804

88,655 90,873

7
8
9

14
15

13

8
10
11
12

796
-
5

29,063
-
6

97,380
6,154

(15,002)

95,659
3,213

(8,126)

99
24

127
-

68,632
-

59
19,163

42,574
-

67
19,163

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received

Net cash flows used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Loans to related parties
Proceeds from loans to related parties

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Capital raising costs

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Net foreign exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

(36,475)
1,385

(35,090)

(873)
-
-

(873)

303
-

303

(35,660)

51,690
(553)

15,477

(13,390)
48

(13,342)

(307)
-
-

(307)

61,960
(1,518)

60,442

46,793

5,215
(318)

51,690

7

14

7

(2,623)
95

(2,528)

(19)
(26,581)

523

(26,077)

303
-

303

(28,302)

29,063
35

796

(2,881)
1

(2,880)

(67)
(32,972)

3,342

(29,697)

61,960
(1,518)

60,442

27,865

1,198
-

29,063

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

As at 1 January 2010

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of share capital
Cost of capital raising
Share-based payments

As at 31 December 2010

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of share capital
Cost of capital raising
Share-based payments

As at 31 December 2011

Parent
Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Accumulated
Losses

USD$’000

Issued
capital

USD$’000

(3,551)

(4,575)
-

(4,575)

-
-
-

(8,126)

(6,956)
-

(6,956)

-
-

80

(15,002)

35,308

-
-

-

61,960
(1,609)

-

95,659

-
-

-

303
-

1,418

97,380

14
14

15 & 16

14
14

14, 15 & 16

1,011

-
-

-

-
-

2,202

3,213
—

-
-

-
-

2,941

6,154

32,768

(4,575)
-

(4,575)

61,960
(1,609)

2,202

90,746

(6,956)
-

(6,956)

303
-

4,439

88,532

Note

Other reserves
Note 15

USD$’000
Total

USD$’000

As at 1 January 2010

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of share capital
Cost of capital raising
Share-based payments

As at 31 December 2010

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income 

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Issue of share capital
Cost of capital raising
Share-based payments

As at 31 December 2011

Consolidated
Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Accumulated
Losses

USD$’000

Issued
capital

USD$’000

(16,851)

(16,079)
-

(16,079)

-

-

(32,930)

(39,599)
-

(39,599)

-

80

(72,449)

35,115

-
-

-

61,960
(1,609)

-

95,466

-
-

-

303
-

1,418

97,187

14
14

15 & 16

14
14

14, 15 & 16

1,766

-
(68)

(68)

-

2,202

3,900

-
(609)

(609)

-

2,941

6,232

20,030

(16,079)
(68)

(16,147)

61,960
(1,609)

2,202

66,436

(39,599)
(609)

(40,208)

303
-

4,439

30,970

Note

Other reserves
Note 15

USD$’000
Total

USD$’000
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1  Corporate information

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The financial report of Petro Matad Limited (“Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2011 was 

authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 June 2012.

This financial report presents the consolidated results and financial position of Petro Matad Limited and its 

subsidiaries (together, the “Group”). 

Petro Matad Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man on 30 August 2007 has five wholly owned 

subsidiaries, including Capcorp Mongolia LLC and Petro Matad LLC (both incorporated in Mongolia), Central 

Asian Petroleum Corporation Limited (“Capcorp”) and Petromatad Invest Limited (both incorporated in the 

Cayman Islands), and Petro Matad Services Limited (incorporated in the Isle of Man). 

(a) Basis of preparation

This financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards (“AAS”) as issued by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board.

This financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except where otherwise stated.

(b) Statement of compliance

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of all applicable 

AAS and Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB that 

have a material effect. IFRS form the basis of the AAS adopted by the AASB. Compliance with AAS ensures 

that the financial statements and notes to the financial statements comply with IFRS. No other applicable 

Accounting Standards or other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB have been applied. 

Certain AAS and Australian Accounting Interpretations have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

effective. These standards have not been adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011 and 

would not have a material effect on the Group's current accounting policies.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.  Control exists when the Group has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  In assessing control, 

potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.  The financial 

statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 

control commences until the date that control ceases.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, 

using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting 

policies that may exist.

Investments in subsidiaries held by Petro Matad Limited are accounted for at cost less any impairment in the 

separate financial statements of the parent entity. Dividends received from subsidiaries are recorded as a 

component of other revenues in the separate statement of comprehensive income of the parent entity, and 

do not impact the recorded cost of the investment. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as 

an equity transaction.
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All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group 

transactions, have been eliminated in full.  Unrealised losses are eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.

(d)  Foreign currency translation

Both the functional and presentation currency of Petro Matad Limited is United States Dollars (“USD”). The 

Cayman Island and Isle of Man subsidiaries’ functional currency are USD. The Mongolian subsidiaries' functional 

currency is Mongolian Tugriks (“MNT”) which is then translated to the presentation currency, USD. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange 

rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

Exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and 
Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which      

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the       

foreign operation), which are recognises initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from    

equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal on the net investment.

The results of the Mongolian subsidiaries are translated into USD (presentation currency) as at the date of 

each transaction. Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 
 
Exchange differences resulting from the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in Mongolian 

subsidiaries are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation 

reserve. If a Mongolian subsidiary was sold, the proportionate share of exchange difference would be transferred 

out of equity and recognised in profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and 

short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 

equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(f) Trade and other receivables
 
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. An impairment provision is recognised 

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the receivable. Objective evidence 

of impairment includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days 

overdue. The amount of the impairment loss is the amount by which the receivable carrying value exceeds the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Functional and presentation currency

Transactions and balances 

Translation of subsidiaries' functional currency to presentation currency 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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(g) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset and is currently 

estimated to be an average of 6.5 years.

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 

at each financial year end.  

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

(h) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group is expensed separately for each area of 

interest. The Group's policy is to expense all exploration and evaluation costs funded out of its own resources.

(i) Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets arising out of business combinations are capitalised as part of deferred 

exploration and evaluation assets. Subsequent to acquisition exploration expenditure is expensed in 

accordance with the Company's accounting policy.

(j) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that tangible and intangible assets 

may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of 

recoverable amount for each asset or cash generating unit to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 

any). Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount the 

asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an 

individual asset, unless the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell 

and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 

assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 

reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Impairment review for deferred exploration and evaluation assets are carried out on a project-by-project 

basis, with each project representing a potential single cash generating unit.  An impairment review is 

undertaken when indicators of impairment arise, typically when one of the following circumstances apply:

Unexpected geological occurrences that render the resource uneconomic;
Title to asset is compromised;
Variations in prices that render the project uneconomic; and
Variations in the currency of operation.

Derecognition 
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(k) Trade and other payables
 

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short term nature are not discounted. 

They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 

that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 

purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 

recognition.

(l) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net 

of issue costs associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and 

any discount or premium on settlement.
 

Gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income when the 

liabilities are derecognised and as well as through the amortisation process.
 

The component parts of compound financial instruments are classified as financial liabilities and equity in 

accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. The fair value of the liability portion of a 

convertible note is determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible note. This 

amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the 

notes. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised and included in 

shareholders' equity.

(m) Provisions
 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. If the effect of the time-value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(n) Leases
 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of 

the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if 

lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 

directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified 

as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 

amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as the lease income.
 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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(o) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 

options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  

(p) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 

the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is 

recognised:

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 

buyer and can be measured reliably.

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis. 

(q) Share-based payment transactions

The Group provides to certain key management personnel share-based payments, whereby they render 

services in exchange for rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of these equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 

they are granted. The fair value is determined by use of the Black Scholes model.

In determining the fair value of the equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any non-market based 

vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which they vest.

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting 

date reflects:

the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
the number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. 

 

This opinion is formed based on the best available information at the reporting date. The impact of the 

revision of original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects 

the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to equity reserves. 

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any increase in the value of the 

transaction as a result of the modification, as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 

expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for 

the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new 

award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

(r) Borrowing costs
 

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(s) Income tax
 

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the 

taxable profit or tax loss for the year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

Sale of goods

Interest revenue

Current tax
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substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current tax for current and prior years is recognised as a liability 

(or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary 

differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and the 

corresponding tax base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial 

recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) that affects neither 

taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to 

taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year(s) when 

the asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 

assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Consolidated Group 

expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of comprehensive income, 

except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 

recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in 

which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

(t) Earnings per share
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude 

any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to owners of the parent, adjusted for: 

Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 
The after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have  

been recognised as expenses; and
Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the year that would result from the       

dilution of potential ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and      

dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(u) Comparatives figures

Where necessary, comparatives figures have been adjusted to conform to any changes in presentation in the 

current year.

(v) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

In applying the Group's accounting policies management continually evaluates judgments, estimates and 

assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have 

an impact on the Group. All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based 

on the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ from the 

judgments, estimates and assumptions.

Deferred tax

Current and deferred tax for the year
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Any revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 

the current and future periods.

The following are the most critical estimates and judgments made by management in applying the accounting 

policies and have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with directors and employees at the fair value of 

the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black 

Scholes model. One of the inputs into the valuation model is volatility of the underlying share price which is 

estimated on the 3.5 year history of the share price and has been estimated in a range from 78 % to 220% 

depending on the date of the option / award. The share price used in the valuation model is based on the 

Company's share price at grant date of each option / award. The term of each option issued is 10 years, 

whereas management have determined that awards will expire on 30 June 2028. To allow for the effects of 

early exercise, it was assumed that executives and employees would exercise the options / awards at the 

mid-point after the vesting date, but before expiry date.

The ultimate recoupment of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent upon successful development 

and commercial exploitation or alternatively the sale of the respective areas of interest at an amount at least 

equal to book value. At the point that it is determined that any capitalised exploration and evaluation 

expenditure is not recoverable, it is written off.

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal reports of the Group that are regularly 

reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess 

their performance.

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board of Directors. On a regular basis, the 

Board receives financial information on a consolidated basis similar to the financial statements presented in 

the financial report, to manage and allocate their resources. Therefore, the Group has one operating segment 

and geographical segment, being Mongolia; as such no separate disclosure has been provided.

Share -based payments

Recovery of the exploration and evaluation assets

3 Operating segments
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4 Revenues and expenses

5 Income tax

(a)  Revenue
Interest Income

(b)  Employee benefits expense
Included in employee benefits expense are the following:
Wages and Salaries
Directors' fees (including directors of affiliates)
Consultancy fees
Expense of share-based payments

(c) Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to the following PSCs:
Block XX
Blocks IV and V
Other

(d) Other expenses
Included in other expenses are the following:
Administration costs
Travel expenses
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 

48

48

7,593
1,982

4

9,579

1,625
406
247

2,278

750
212
946

2,202

4,110

1,385

1,385

1,

19,333
8,474

-

27,807

2,426
541
(55)

2,912

762
329

3,362
4,439

9,892

95

95

210
295

1,229
4,439

6,173

-
-
-

-

381
317
(36)

662

1

1

244
186
946

2,202

3,578

-
-
4

4

418
227
250

895

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000Note

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

Income tax recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

Tax expense/(benefit) comprises:
Current tax expense/( benefit)
Deferred tax expense/( benefit) relating to the 
origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total tax expense/(benefit) reported in the statement
of comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000Note

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

64
PETRO MATAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011



The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit/(loss) from continuing operations 

reconciles to the income tax expense/(benefit) in the financial statements as follows:

(i) The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 10% payable by Mongolian        

corporate entities on taxable profits up to 3 billion MNT under Mongolian tax law.

(ii) Petromatad Invest Limited and Capcorp are exempt of Mongolian corporate tax on profits derived from  

the sale of oil under their PSC's and are subject to Cayman Islands income tax at a rate of 0%. As a          

consequence, no provision for Mongolian corporate tax or Cayman Islands current tax or deferred tax     

has been made in the Company's accounts in relation to them.

Petro Matad Limited is subject to Isle of Man income tax at a rate of 0%. As a consequence, no provision 

for Isle of Man current tax or deferred tax has been made in the Company's accounts.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the total operations basic and diluted loss 

per share computations:

Share options and Performance Share Awards could potentially dilute basic loss per share in the 

future, however they have been excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share because 

they are anti-dilutive for both years presented.

There have been further transactions involving ordinary shares since the reporting date and before 

the completion of these financial statements, details of these can be found in Note 22 Events after 

the reporting date.

6 Loss per share

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000Note

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

(i)

(ii)

Net loss for the year

Income tax expense calculated at 10%

Effect of different tax rates on entities in different jurisdictions 
Change in unrecognised deferred tax assets

16,079

1,608

(1,168)
(440)

-

3,960

(3,547)
(413)

-

39,599 6,956

696

(696)
-

-

4,575

457

(457)
-

-

The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share are as follows:

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic and diluted loss per share

39,599

183,995

16,079

153,558

Basic loss per share

Diluted loss per share

Consolidated

21.5

21.5

10.5

10.5

31 Dec 2011
cents per share

USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
cents per share

USD$’000
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7 Cash and cash equivalents

8 Trade and other receivables

 

 

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at fixed and floating rates based on prevailing bank rates, and the 

fair value of the above cash and cash equivalents is $15,477,000 (2010: $51,690,000).

 

Non-cash investing and financing activities
There were no non-cash investing or financing activities undertaken in the financial year or prior year.

All amounts are recoverable and are not considered past due or impaired.
 

For terms and conditions of related party receivables, refer to Note 18.

Cash at bank and in hand

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

51,690
-

51,690

15,477
-

15,477

796
-

796

29,063
-

29,063

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Current
Other debtors

Non-current
Related party receivables:
- loan to subsidiaries

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

88

88

-

-

316

316

-

-

-

-

68,632

68,632

-

-

42,574

42,574

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000Note

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

Reconciliation from the net loss after tax to the net cash flows from operations:

Net loss after tax

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Share based payments
Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses

Changes in assets and liabilities
(increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
(increase)/decrease in prepayments and other assets
(decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

Net cash flows used in operating activities

(16,079)

56
2,202
-250

(54)
(332)

615

(13,342)

(39,599)

174
4,439

(55)

(228)
(375)

554

(35,090)

(6,956)

27
4,439

(35)

-
1

(4)

(2,528)

(4,575)

13
2,202

-

32
(6)

(546)

(2,880)



9 Prepayments and other assets

10 Exploration and evaluation assets

11 Property, plant and equipment

 

Other current assets are mainly comprised of consumables, including casing, mud and drilling materials 

purchased for Block XX.

 

The exploration and evaluation asset arose following the initial acquisition in February 2007 of 50% of 

Petromatad Invest Limited, together with acquisition on 12 November 2007 of the remaining 50% not already 

held by the Group, for a consideration of 23,340,000 ordinary shares credited as fully paid up and with an 

estimated fair value of $0.50 per share, taking into account assets and liabilities acquired on acquisition.

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year:

Prepayments
Other assets

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

41
313

354

262
467

729

5
-

5

6
-

6

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Exploration and evaluation assets

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

15,275

15,275

15,275

15,275

-

-

-

-

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Plant and equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

540
(90)

450

1,360
(211)

1,149

80
(21)

59

76
(9)

67

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

As at 1 January 2009 (net of accumulated depreciation)
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

As at 31 December 2009 (net of accumulated depreciation)

Additions
Disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

As at 31 December 2010 (net of accumulated depreciation)

Consolidated Parent

Total
USD$’000

Plant and
Equipment
USD$’000

199
307

-
(56)

450

873
-

(174)

1,149

199
307

-
(56)

450

873
-

(174)

1,149

13
67

-
(13)

67

19
-

(27)

59

13
67

-
(13)

67

19
-

(27)

59

Plant and
Equipment
USD$’000

Total
USD$’000
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12  Investment in subsidiaries

13  Trade and other payables (current)

14  Issued capital

For details of investments in subsidiaries, refer to Note 18.

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled within 60 day terms.

Investments in subsidiaries at cost

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

-

-

-

-

19,163

19,163

19,163

19,163

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Trade payables
Other payables

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

1,418
3

1,421

1,949
3

1,952

99
-

99

127
-

127

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Ordinary Shares
184,565,284 shares issued and fully paid
(2010: 183,061,577)

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

95,466

95,466

97,187

97,187

97,380

97,380

95,659

95,659

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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Movements in ordinary shares on issue:

Consolidated

As at 1 January 2010

Issue of EBRD first tranche shares on 22 February 2010 (note (a))
Issue of shares to an employee on 11 June 2010 on exercise of options (note (b))
Issue of EBRD second tranche shares on 11 June 2010 (note (c))
Issue of Petrovis service shares on 21 July 2010(note (d))
Issue of shares to Westhouse on 21 July 2010 on exercise of options (note (e))
Placement shares on  21 September 2010 (note (f))
Direct subscription shares on 5 October 2010 (note (g))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 October 2010 on exercise of options (note (h))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 October 2010 on exercise of options (note (I))
Issue of EBRD subscription shares on 12 October 2010 (note (j))
Issue of shares to an employee on 29 November 2010 on exercise of options (note (k))
Capital raising costs

As at 31 December 2010

Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 25 March 2011 (note (l))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (m))
Issue of shares to a director on 12 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (n))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 21 April 2011 (note (o))
Issue of shares to employees on 21 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (p))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 10 June 2011 (note (q))
Issue of shares to an employee on 10 June 2011 on exercise of options (note (r))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 5 August 2011 (note (s))
Issue of shares to employees on 5 August 2011 on exercise of options (note (t))
Issue of shares to an employee on 5 August 2011 on exercise of options (note (u))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 21 November 2011 (note (v))
Issue of shares to an employee on 21 November 2011 on exercise of options (note (w))
Capital raising costs
Share based payment

As at 31 December 2011

Number of
shares

125,341,789

13,730,103
18,750

14,644,004
2,000,000

966,800
13,640,203

8,843,675
235,500
255,000

3,367,003
18,750

-

183,061,577

191,479
628,750

50,000
142,447

25,000
83,534

7,500
97,497

184,090
5,000

83,410
5,000

-
-

184,565,284

0.218
0.163
0.205
0.210
0.750
2.080
2.080
0.750
0.175
2.079
0.750

-

0.010
0.180
0.750
0.010
0.180
0.010
0.180
0.010
0.752
0.180
0.010
0.174

-
-

35,115

3,000
3

3,000
420
725

29,154
18,423

177
45

7,000
13

(1,609)

95,466

2
113
38

1
5
1
1
1

138
1
1
1
-

1,418

97,187

Issue price
USD$ USD$’000

69
PETRO MATAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011



(a) On 22 February 2010, 13,730,103 shares were issued to EBRD at a price per share of GBP0.14 being the     

first tranche of shares pursuant to the Subscription Agreement signed on 18 December 2009 between     

the Company and EBRD.

(b) On 11 June 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 18,750 shares were awarded to an employee exercising     

options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.11.

© On 11 June 2010, 14,644,004 shares were issued to EBRD at a price per share of GBP0.14 being the second  

tranche of shares pursuant to the Subscription Agreement signed on 18 December 2009.

(d) On 21 July 2010, 2,000,000 shares were issued to nominated recipients of Petrovis in settlement of a       

liability related to a fee of GBP280,000 pursuant to a Service Agreement dated 19 June 2009. 

(e) On 21 July 2010, 966,800 shares were issued to Westhouse on exercise of options with an exercise price   

per share of $0.75 under an option agreement dated 25 April 2008.

(f) On 21 September 2010, the Company concluded a placement by issuing 13,640,203 shares at a price per   

share of GBP1.35 arranged through its broker, Westhouse.
 
(g) On 5 October 2010, the Company issued 8,843,675 shares through subscriptions at a price per share of GBP1.35.

Parent

As at 1 January 2010

Issue of EBRD first tranche shares on 22 February 2010 (note (a))
Issue of shares to an employee on 11 June 2010 on exercise of options (note (b))
Issue of EBRD second tranche shares on 11 June 2010 (note (c))
Issue of Petrovis service shares on 21 July 2010 (note (d))
Issue of shares to Westhouse on 21 July 2010 on exercise of options (note (e))
Placement shares on 21 September 2010 (note (f))
Direct subscription shares on 5 October 2010 (note (g))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 October 2010 on exercise of options (note (h))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 October 2010 on exercise of options (note (I))
Issue of EBRD subscription shares on 12 October 2010  (note (j))
Issue of shares to an employee on 29 November 2010 on exercise of options (note (k))
Capital raising costs

As at 31 December 2010

Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 25 March 2011 (note (l))
Issue of shares to directors and employees on 12 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (m))
Issue of shares to a director on 12 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (n))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 21 April 2011 (note (o))
Issue of shares to employees on 21 April 2011 on exercise of options (note (p))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 10 June 2011 (note (q))
Issue of shares to an employee on 10 June 2011 on exercise of options (note (r))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 5 August 2011 (note (s))
Issue of shares to employees on 5 August 2011 on exercise of options (note (t))
Issue of shares to an employee on 5 August 2011 on exercise of options (note (u))
Exercise of Performance Share Awards on 21 November 2011 (note (v))
Issue of shares to an employee on 21 November 2011 on exercise of options (note (w))
Capital raising costs
Share based payment

As at 31 December 2011

Number of
shares

125,341,789

13,730,103
18,750

14,644,004
2,000,000

966,800
13,640,203

8,843,675
235,500
255,000

3,367,003
18,750

-

183,061,577

191,479
628,750

50,000
142,447

25,000
83,534

7,500
97,497

184,090
5,000

83,410
5,000

-
-

184,565,284

0.218
0.163
0.205
0.210
0.750
2.080
2.080
0.750
0.175
2.079
0.750

-

0.010
0.180
0.750
0.010
0.180
0.010
0.180
0.010
0.752
0.180
0.010
0.174

-
-

35,308

3,000
3

3,000
420
725

29,154
18,423

177
45

7,000
13

(1,609)

95,659

2
113
38

1
5
1
1
1

38
1
1
1
-

1,418

97,380

Issue price
USD$ USD$’000
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(h) On 12 October 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 235,500 shares were awarded to directors and          

employees exercising options with an exercise price per share of $0.75.

(i) On 12 October 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 255,000 shares were awarded to directors and          

employees exercising options with an exercise price per share GBP0.11.

(j) On 12 October 2010, the Company issued 3,367,003 subscription shares to EBRD at a price per share of GBP1.35. 

(k) On 29 November 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 18,750 shares were awarded to an employee          

exercising options with an exercise price per share of $0.75.

(l) On 25 March 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 191,479 shares were awarded to employees exercising    

Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

(m) On 12 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 628,750 shares were awarded to directors and employees  

exercising options with an exercise price per share GBP0.11.

(n) On 12 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 50,000 shares were awarded to a director exercising        

options with an exercise price per share of $0.75.

(o) On 21 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 142,447 shares were awarded to an employee exercising   

 Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01.

(p) On 21 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 25,000 shares were awarded to employees exercising       

options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.11.

(q) On 10 June 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 83,534 shares were awarded to employees exercising       

Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

(r) On 10 June 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 7,500 shares were awarded to an employee exercising      

options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.11.

(s) On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 97,497 shares were awarded to employees exercising     

Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

(t) On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 184,090 shares were awarded to employees exercising   

options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.4616.

(u) On 5 August 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 5,000 shares were awarded to an employee exercising    

options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.11.

(v) On 21 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 83,410 shares were awarded to employees             

exercising Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

(w) On 21 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 5,000 shares were awarded to an employee            

exercising options with an exercise price per share of GBP0.11.
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15  Reserves

Merger reserve

Equity benefits reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve

A detailed breakdown of the reserves of the Group is as follows:

 
Nature and purpose of reserves

The merger reserve arose from the Company's acquisition of Capcorp on 12 November 2007. This transaction 

is outside the scope of AASB 3 'Business Combinations' and as such directors have elected to use UK 

Accounting Standards FRS 6 'Acquisitions and Mergers'. The difference, if any, between the nominal value of 

the shares issued plus the fair value of any other consideration, and the nominal value of the shares received 

in exchange are recorded as a movement on other reserves in the consolidated financial statements.

The equity benefits reserve is used to record the value of options and Performance Share Awards provided to 

employees and directors as part of their remuneration, pursuant to the Group's Plan. Refer to Note 16 for 

further details of these plans.

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Consolidated
As at 1 January 2010
Currency translation differences
Share based payments

As at 31 December 2010

Currency translation differences
Share based payments

As at 31 December 2011

Parent
As at 1 January 2010
Currency translation differences
Option premium on convertible notes
Share based payment

As at 31 December 2010

Currency translation differences
Share based payments

As at 31 December 2011

Foreign
 currency

translation
USD$'000

Equity
benefits
reserve

USD$'000

Merger
reserve

USD$'000

(76)
(68)

-

(144)

(609)
-

(753)

-
-
-
-

-

-
-

-

1,011
-

2,202

3,213

-
2,941

6,154

1,011
-
-

2,202

3,213

-
2,941

6,154

831
-
-

831

-
-

831

-
-
-
-

-

-
-

-

1,766
(68)

2,202

3,900

(609)
2,941

6,232

1,011
-
-

2,202

3,213

-
2,941

6,154

Total
USD$’000
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16 Share based payments

(a) Long Term Equity Incentive Plan

The Group provides long term incentives to employees (including executive directors), non-executive directors 

and consultants through the Group's Plan based on the achievement of certain performance criteria. The Plan 

provides for share awards in the form of options and conditional Performance Share Awards. The incentives are 

awarded at the discretion of the Board, or in the case of executive directors, the Remuneration Committee of the 

Board, who determine the level of award and appropriate vesting, service and performance conditions taking into 

account market practice and the need to recruit and retain the best people.

Options may be exercised, subject only to continuing service, during such period as the Board may determine. 

Options have a term of 10 years.

Performance Share Awards shall vest subject to continuing service and appropriate and challenging 

performance conditions determined by the Remuneration Committee and, in the case of directors, relating to 

the overall performance of the Group. The awards have an estimated expiry of 30 June 2028.

The following options were granted during the year:

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 519,100 options over shares were granted to employees with an 

exercise price per share of GBP1.18167, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 6 April 2012;
33% after 6 April 2013;
34% after 6 April 2014.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 250,000 options over shares were granted to an employee with 

an exercise price per share of GBP£1.18167, exercisable in three parts on the anniversaries of her employment 

commencement dates. 

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 563,000 options over shares were granted to employees with an 

exercise price per share of GBP1.17, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 5 July 2012;
33% after 5 July 2013;
34% after 5 July 2014.

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 60,000 options over shares were granted to an employee with 

an exercise price per share of GBP1.17, exercisable in three parts on the anniversaries of her employment 

commencement dates. 

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 215,000 options over shares were granted to employees 

with an exercise price per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 22 November 2012;
33% after 22 November 2013;
34% after 22 November 2014.

On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 options over shares were granted to employees 

with an exercise price per share of GBP0.1975, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 5 December 2012;
33% after 5 December 2013;
34% after 5 December 2014.
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The following awards were granted during the year:

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 707,800 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30 June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 273,180 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various dates 

commencing in 2012.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 20,176 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting on various dates commencing in 2011.

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 583,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to a director and employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 94,123 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various dates 

commencing in 2012.

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 54,145 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting on various dates commencing in 2011.

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 119,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 150,000 Performance Share Service Awards over shares 

were granted to an employee with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the 

awards are tied to employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on 

various dates commencing in 2011.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

74
PETRO MATAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011



On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30 June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

The fair value of the options and Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant 

using Black Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted.  

Expected volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the past 3.5 years.

(b) Option pricing model

Options granted on 9 July 2010

On 9 July 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 3,319,000 options over shares were granted to employees and 

directors with an exercise price per share of GBP0.4616 ($0.70), exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 9 July 2011;
33% after 9 July 2012;
34% after 9 July 2013.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes model, taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the 

inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2010 for this transaction:

Options granted on 6 April 2011

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 769,100 options over shares were granted to employees with 

an exercise price per share of GBP1.8167, exercisable in three parts as follows:
 

33% after 6 April 2012;
33% after 6 April 2013;
34% after 6 April 2014.

 

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes model, taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the 

inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

$0.88
85

0.50
5.50

$0.70

$0.6576

Share price at grant date
Expected Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rates (%)
Expected life (years)
Exercise Price

Estimate fair value of option

$0.88
85

0.50
6.00

$0.70

$0.6743

$0.88
85

0.50
6.50

$0.70

$0.6896

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3

$3.0202
85

0.50
5.50

$2.9420

$2.0842

Share price at grant date
Expected Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rates (%)
Expected life (years)
Exercise Price

Estimate fair value of option

$3.0202
85

0.50
6.00

$2.9420

$2.1470

$3.0202
85

0.50
6.50

$2.9420

$2.2047

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3
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Options granted on 5 July 2011

 On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 623,000 options over shares were granted to a director and 

employees with an exercise price per share of GBP1.17, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 5 July 2012;
33% after 5 July 2013;
34% after 5 July 2014.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes model, taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the 

inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Options granted on 22 November 2011

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 215,000 options over shares were granted to employees 

with an exercise price per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 22 November 2012;
33% after 22 November 2013;
34% after 22 November 2014.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes model, taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the 

inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Options granted on 5 December 2011

On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 options over shares were granted to employees 

with an exercise price per share of GBP0.1975, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 5 December 2012;
33% after 5 December 2013;
34% after 5 December 2014.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes model, taking 

into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the 

inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

$1.8819
85

0.50
5.50

$1.881

 $1.2947

Share price at grant date
Expected Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rates (%)
Expected life (years)
Exercise Price

Estimate fair value of option

$1.8819
85

0.50
6.00

$1.8819

$1.3333

$1.8819
85

0.50
6.50

$1.8819

$1.3714

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3

$0.3534
85

0.50
5.50

$0.3534

$0.2431

Share price at grant date
Expected Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rates (%)
Expected life (years)
Exercise Price

Estimate fair value of option

$0.3534
85

0.50
6.00

$0.3534

$0.2507

$0.3534
85

0.50
6.50

$0.3534

$0.2576

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3
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(c) Movement in share options

(d) Share Options Contractual Life

The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding share options is 8.1 years (2010: 8.7 years).

(e) Performance share awards pricing model

Performance share awards granted on 9 July 2010

On 9 July 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 2,671,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to employees and directors with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

$0.3081
85

0.50
5.50

$0.3081

$0.2109

Share price at grant date
Expected Volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rates (%)
Expected life (years)
Exercise Price

Estimate fair value of option

$0.3081
85

0.50
6.00

$0.3081

$0.2174

$0.3081
85

0.50
6.50

$0.3081

$0.2235

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3

Forfeited
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Granted
during

the year

Opening
balance at
1 January

2011

-
(56,250)
(71,250)

(265,750)
(122,100)
(124,000)

(48,000)
-

(687,350)

123.56

-
(50,000)

(671,250)
(184,090)

-
-
-
-

(905,340)

30.39

-
-
-
-

769,100
623,000
215,000
100,000

1,707,100

207.48

-
1,430,750
1,621,250
3,257,000

-
-
-
-

6,309,000

57.31

-
1,324,500

878,750
2,807,160

647,000
499,000
167,000
100,000

6,423,410

93.92

 -
922,000
428,750
805,200

-
-
-
-

2,155,950

61.44

Closing
balance as at
31 December

2011

Exercisable
as at 31

December
2011

Grant of options on 24 April 2008
Grant of options on 3 June 2008
Grant of options on 8 April 2009
Grant of options on 9 July 2010
Grant of options on 6 April 2011
Grant of options on 5 July 2011
Grant of options on 22 Nov 2011
Grant of options on 5 Dec 2011

Weighted Average Exercise Price
(cents per option)

Consolidated and Parent

Forfeited
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Granted
during

the year

Opening
balance at
1 January

2010

-
-
-

(62,000)

(62,000)

70.00

(966,800)
(254,250)
(273,750)

-

(1,494,800)

64.23

-
-
-

3,319,000

3,319,000

70.00

966,800
1,685,000
1,895,000

-

4,546,800

50.49

-
1,430,750
1,621,250
3,257,000

6,309,000

57.31

-
167,000
150,000

-

317,000

47.18

Closing
balance as at
31 December

2010

Exercisable
as at 31

December
2010

Grant of options on 24 April 2008
Grant of options on 3 June 2008
Grant of options on 8 April 2009
Grant of options on 9 July 2010

Weighted Average Exercise Price
(cents per option)

Consolidated and Parent
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The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted. The following 

table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2010 for this transaction:

Share price at grant date $0.88
Expected Volatility (%) 220
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 10.5
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $0.88

Performance share awards granted on 12 November 2010

On 12 November 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 846,903 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards 

are tied to employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various 

dates commencing in 2011.

On 12 November, 2010, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 198,940 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The Performance Share Awards are available 

for vesting at any time after the date of award.

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Performance Share Awards 

were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2010 for 

this transaction:

Share price at grant date $1.70
Expected Volatility (%) 220
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 5.7
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $1.70

Performance share awards granted on 6 April 2011

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 707,800 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted. The following 

table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Share price at grant date $3.0202
Expected Volatility (%) 85
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 10
Exercise Price $0.01
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The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $3.0202

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 273,180 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various dates 

commencing in 2012.

On 6 April 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 20,176 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting on various dates commencing in 2011.

These have an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Performance Share Awards 

were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for 

this transaction:

Share price at grant date $3.0202
Expected Volatility (%) 85
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 5
Exercise Price $0.01
 

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $3.0202

Performance share awards granted on 5 July 2011

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 583,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted 

to a director and employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.
 

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted. The following 

table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Share price at grant date $1.8819
Expected Volatility (%) 85
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 10
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $1.8819

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 94,123 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various dates 

commencing 

On 5 July 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 54,145 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards are tied to 

employment continuity and are available for vesting on various dates commencing in 2011.
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The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black Scholes 

model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Performance Share Awards were granted. 

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Share price at grant date $1.8819
Expected Volatility (%) 85
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 5
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $1.8813

Performance share awards granted on 22 November 2011

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 119,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which they were granted. The following 

table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for this transaction:

Share price at grant date $0.3534
Expected Volatility (%) 79
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 10
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $0.3495

On 22 November 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 150,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to an employee with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards 

are tied to employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various 

dates commencing in 2011.

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Performance Share Awards 

were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for 

this transaction:

Share price at grant date $0.3534
Expected Volatility (%) 79
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 5
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $0.3466

Performance share awards granted on 5 December 2011

On 5 December 2011, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

80
PETRO MATAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011



The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30     

June 2014;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale, estimated by management as being by 30  

June 2014; and
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil, estimated by management as being    

by 30 June 2017.

The fair value of the Performance Share Awards granted is estimated as at the date of grant using Black 

Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Performance Share Awards 

were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the year ending 31 December 2011 for 

this transaction:

Share price at grant date $0.3081
Expected Volatility (%) 78
Risk-free interest rates (%) 0.50
Expected life (years) 10
Exercise Price $0.01

The estimated fair value of each Performance Share Award at grant date is approximately $0.3040

(f) Movement in performance share awards

(g) Performance Share Awards Contractual Life

The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding performance awards is 16.5 years (2010: 17.5 

years).

Awarded
during

the year

Forfeited
during

the year

Granted
during

the year

Opening
balance at
1 January

2011

-
-

(25,000)
(481,241)

(16,481)
(75,645)

-
-

(598,367)

1.00

(75,000)
(10,000)

(179,000)
-

(190,604)
(84,000)
(32,000)

-

(570,604)

1.00

-
-
-
-

1,001,156
731,268
269,000
100,000

2,101,424

1.00

1,740,000
155,000

2,621,000
1,045,843

-
-
-
-

5,561,843

1.00

1,665,000
145,000

2,417,000
564,602
794,071
571,623
237,000
100,000

6,494,296

1.00

 -
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-

Closing
balance as at
31 December

2011

Exercisable
as at 31

December
2011

Grant of Performance Share Awards on 3 Jun 2008
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 8 Apr 2009
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 9 Jul 2010
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 12 Nov 2010
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 6 Apr 2011
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 5 Jul 2011
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 22 Nov 2011
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 5 Dec 2011

Weighted Average Exercise Price
(cents per option)

Consolidated and Parent

Forfeited
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Granted
during

the year

Opening
balance at
1 January

2010

-
-
-
-

-

-

-
-

(50,000)
-

(50,000)

1.00

-
-

2,671,000
1,045,843

3,716,843

1.00

1,740,000
155,000

-
-

1,895,000

1.00

1,740,000
155,000

2,621,000
1,045,843

5,561,843

1.00

-
-
-
-

-

-

Closing
balance as at
31 December

2010

Exercisable
as at 31

December
2010

Grant of Performance Share Awards on 3 Jun 2008
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 8 Apr 2009
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 9 Jul 2010
Grant of Performance Share Awards on 12 Nov 2010

Weighted Average Exercise Price
(cents per option)

Consolidated and Parent
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17 Commitments and contingencies

(a) Operating lease commitments

Operating leases relate to premises used by the Group in its operations, generally with terms between 2 and 5 

years. Some of the operating leases contain options to extend for further periods and an adjustment to bring 

the lease payments into line with market rates prevailing at that time. The leases do not contain an option to 

purchase the leased property. 

The Group's Australian office closed and lease arrangements ceased on 30 April 2012.

The Group has committed to office and warehouse leases in Mongolia in the amounts of $162,000 for 2012, 

and $8,000 for 2013.

 

(b) Exploration expenditure commitments

Petromatad Invest Limited and Capcorp have minimum spending obligations, under the terms of their PSC's 

on Blocks IV, V and XX with the Petroleum Authority of Mongolia.

The amounts set out below do not include general and administrative expenses.

Under the PSC's, prior year expenditure over and above minimum exploration work obligations may be used 

to reduce the following year's obligation. As Block XX expenditure in prior years has significantly exceeded 

the minimum PSC work obligations, the Company has the option to reduce its spending in Block XX for the 

Year 7 work programme from $22.5 million to $1.46 million in 2012. This reduced amount has been included in 

the above table as commitments for Block XX. The Company's current cash resources are sufficient to meet 

this exploration expenditure commitment. Due to the prior focus on Block XX, cumulative expenditures on 

Blocks IV and V are currently somewhat below the cumulative minimum PSC commitment. This shortfall of 

$1.77 million and the current year exploration work obligations for 2012 of $13.81 million have been included 

in the above table for Blocks IV and V. Discussions will be held with PAM on modifications to the work 

programmes on these blocks.

Operating Leases:
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
Greater than five years

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

135
-
-

135

166
8
-

174

4
-
-

4

3
-
-

3

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

Production Sharing Contract Fees:
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
Greater than five years

Minimum Exploration Work Obligations:
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
Greater than five years

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

735
1,320

-

2,055

16,228
19,364

-

35,592

696
696

-

1,581

17,040
10,680

-

27,720

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

-

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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The work programme planned for the three blocks in 2012/2013 is subject to completion of an ongoing 

technical review of seismic data and well results and the timing of raising additional capital.

Petromatad Invest Limited and Capcorp can voluntarily relinquish their rights under the PSC's, if the minimum 

work obligations are completed, namely the $1.77 million shortfall on Blocks IV and V.

(c) Contingencies

There are no contingencies outstanding at the year end.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Petro Matad Limited and the 

subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Capcorp Mongolia LLC was acquired on the 14 August 2006, on incorporation of the Company. Capcorp 

holds 1,000,000 ordinary shares of MNT150 each.

Petromatad Invest Limited was acquired on 12 November 2007. Petro Matad Limited and Capcorp each hold 

25,000 shares of $1 each.

Capcorp was acquired on 12 November 2007. Petro Matad Limited holds 43,340,000 ordinary shares of $0.01 

each.

Petro Matad LLC is 100% owned by Petromatad Invest Limited. Petromatad Invest Limited holds 15,000 

ordinary shares of MNT10,000 each.

Petro Matad Services Limited is 100% owned by Petro Matad Limited. Petro Matad Limited holds 1 ordinary 

share of $1.

18 Related party disclosures

Central Asian Petroleum Corporation Limited
Capcorp Mongolia LLC
Petromatad Invest Limited
Petro Matad LLC
Petro Matad Services Limited

Equity Interest Investment

2010
%

2011
%

100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100

Cayman Islands
Mongolia

Cayman Islands
Mongolia

Isle of Man

7,493
-

11,670
-
-

19,163

7,493
-

11,670
-
-

19,163

Country of 
 Incorporation

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000
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The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with 

subsidiaries for the relevant financial year:

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions which have been entered into with 

related parties for the relevant financial year:

Petrovis is a major shareholder of the Company, currently holding approximately 20% of the shareholding. 

EBRD is a major shareholder of the Company, currently holding approximately 17% of the shareholding.

(a) On 5 October 2010, the Company issued 2,644,230 subscription shares to Petrovis to raise a total of       

$5,499,998.

(b) On 22 February 2010, the Company issued 13,730,103 shares to EBRD at a price of GBP0.14 per share       

being the first tranche of shares pursuant to the Subscription Agreement signed on 18 December 2009    

between the Company and EBRD. On 11 June 2010, the Company issued 14,644,004 shares to EBRD at a   

price of GBP0.14 per share being the second tranche of shares pursuant to the Subscription Agreement.   

On 12 October 2010, the Company issued 3,367,003 subscription shares to EBRD at a price of GBP1.35     

per share.

Terms and conditions of transactions with subsidiaries

Petro Matad Limited
- Central Asian Petroleum Corporation Limited
- Petromatad Invest Limited
- Petro Matad LLC
- Capcorp Mongolia LLC
- Petro Matad Services Limited

Central Asian Petroleum Corporation Limited
- Petro Matad LLC
- Capcorp Mongolia LLC
- Petromatad Invest Limited

Petro Matad LLC
- Petromatad Invest Limited
- Capcorp Mongolia LLC

16,266
18,712
32,943

707
4

6,342
752
115

11,200
2,951

10,490
6,439

25,328
317

-

7,742
1,314

315

2,759
1,854

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000Amounts receivable from related parties:

Petrovis' subscription for shares in Petro Matad Limited (notes (a))
EBRD's subscription for shares in Petro Matad Limited (notes (b))

-
-

5,500
13,000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000
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19 Key management personnel

20 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(a) Details of Directors 

The names of the Company's directors, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the group, in office during the year and until the date of this report are as below:

The directors were in office for this entire year unless otherwise stated.

Directors
Gordon Leonard Toll Non-executive Co-Chairperson Resigned 27 January 2012
Janchiv Oyungerel Non-executive Co-Chairperson Appointed Chairperson on 27 January 2012
Douglas John McGay Chief Executive Officer
Clyde Robert Evans Chief Financial Officer
John Campbell Robertson Non-executive Director Resigned 12 March 2012
Davaadorj Sarangua  Non-executive Director Resigned 12 March 2012
Mary Ellen Collins Non-executive Director
Davaanyam Enkhchimeg Non-executive Director Resigned 20 May 2011
Davaanyam Enkhmaa Non-executive Director Appointed 20 May 2011
David Daniel Skeels Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
Philip Arthur Vingoe Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
George Edward Watkins Non-executive Director Appointed 12 March 2012
Tuul Amarzul Executive Director Appointed 19 March 2012

On 16 April 2012, Clyde Robert Evans retired as Chief Financial Officer, while continuing on in a role as a Non-

executive Director. John Rene Henriksen was appointed Chief Financial Officer on the same date.

(b) Compensation of Directors 

 
(c) Other key management personnel transactions 

There were no other key management personnel transactions during the year (2010: Nil).

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits classified as loans and 

receivables financial assets.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise capital for the Group's operations.

The Group also has various other financial instruments such as trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise 

directly from its operations. It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group's policy that no 

trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, 

credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Board is responsible for identification and control of financial risks. The Board reviews and agrees policies 

for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share based payment expense

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

663
-

944

1,607

939
-

1,015

1,954

874
-

1,015

1,889

602
-

934

1,536

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000
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Risk Exposures and Responses

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flow associated with the 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rate. Interest rate risk arises from fluctuations in 

interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that the Group uses. Interest bearing assets comprise cash and 

cash equivalents which are considered to be short-term liquid assets. It is the Group's policy to settle trade 

payables within the credit terms allowed and the Group does therefore not incur interest on overdue 

balances.

The following table sets out the carrying amount of the financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

 

If the interest rate on cash balances at 31 December 2011 weakened/strengthened by 1%, there would be no 

material impact on the statement of comprehensive income. There would be no effect on the equity reserves 

other than those directly related to statement of comprehensive income movements. 

As a result of operations overseas, the Group's statement of financial position can be affected by movements 

in various exchange rates. 

The functional currency of the Company is USD because majority of costs and source of capital raising are 

denominated in USD, while the presentational currency of the Company and the Group is deemed to be USD 

because the future revenue from the sale of oil will be denominated in USD, similar to other companies in the 

oil and gas industry and the costs of the Group are likewise predominately in USD. Some transactions are 

however dominated in currencies other than USD. These transactions comprise operating costs and capital 

expenditure in the local currencies of the countries where the Group operates. These currencies have a close 

relationship to the USD and management believes that changes in the exchange rates will not have a 

significant effect on the Group's financial statements. 

The Group does not use forward currency contracts to eliminate the currency exposures on any individual 

transactions. 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

Interest rate risk

Sensitivity Analysis

Foreign currency risk

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables

Net exposure

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

51,690

51,690

1,421

1,421

50,269

15,477

15,477

1,952

1,952

13,525

3.74%

0%

796

796

99

99

697

29,063

29,063

127

127

28,936

Weighted
Average
Int. rate

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

Mongolian Tugrik (“MNT”) 1

Australian Dollar (“AUD”) 1

Great British Pound (“GBP”) 1

20102011

1,357.04

1.09020

0.64760

1,265.01

0.96890

0.62360

1,396.37

0.98280

0.64710

1,257.18

0.98396

0.64638

2011 2010USD

Average rate Spot rate at the balance date
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Sensitivity Analysis

Price risk

Credit risk

Impairment Losses:

Liquidity risk

A 5% strengthening/weakening of the MNT against USD at 31 December 2011 would not have a material 

effect on profit and equity. 

 
The Group's exposure to price risk is minimal as the Group is currently not revenue producing other than from 

interest income.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations. The Group is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents and 

other receivables as set out in Notes 7 and 8 which also represent the maximum exposure to credit risk. The 

Group only deposits surplus cash with well established financial institutions of high quality credit standing. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure 

to bad debts is not significant. 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date:

None of the Group's receivables are past due at 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil)

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group's objective is to ensure that sufficient funds are available to allow it to continue its exploration activities.

Upon discovery of commercial quantities of hydrocarbons the Group will submit a Plan of Development to 

the Petroleum Authority of Mongolia, with the aim of commencing development and production as soon as 

approvals are received. Raising funds for the development phase is not expected to be difficult due to the 

transition from a relatively high risk exploration stage to a low risk development stage. Specific financing 

alternatives will be evaluated at the time. 

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

Net exposure

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

51,690
88

51,778

15,477
316

15,793

796
-

796

29,063
-

29,063

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

7
8
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The remaining contractual maturities of the Group's and parent entity's financial liabilities are:

All of the Group's amounts payable and receivable are current. 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing financial assets and financial liabilities of 

the consolidated entity approximate their carrying value.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The management of the Group and the Group's capital 

is regularly reviewed by the Board.  The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and bank balances 

(Note 7) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as detailed in 

Notes 14 and 15).

The Group monitors its capital requirements based on the funding required for its exploration activities in 

Mongolia.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

On 13 February 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 206,987 shares were awarded to employees exercising 

Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01.

On 13 February 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 11,250 shares were awarded to employees exercising 

options with an exercise price of GBP0.11 per share. 

On 5 March 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 280,000 shares were awarded to a former director exercising 

Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 881,000 options over shares were granted to directors and 

employees with an exercise price per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts as follows:

33% after 25 April 2013;
33% after 25 April 2014;
34% after 25 April 2015.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 100,000 options over shares were granted to an employee 

with an exercise price per share of GBP0.225, exercisable in three parts on the anniversaries of his 

employment commencement date.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 942,000 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to directors and employees with an exercise price per share of $0.01.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

21 Capital management

22 Events after the reporting date

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6 months or less
6-12 months
1-5 years
over 5 years

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

1,421
-
-
-

1,421

1,952
-
-
-

1,952

99
-
-
-

99

127
-
-
-

127

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000



The Performance Share Awards will vest on achievement of the following conditions:
 

25% vest on the first discovery of oil on a commercial scale;
25% vest on the first production of oil on a commercial scale;
50% vest on the Group achieving the sale of 1 million barrels of oil.

 

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 789,090 Performance Share Awards over shares were 

granted to an employee with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The performance conditions of the awards 

are tied to employment continuity and are available for vesting in three equal annual instalments on various 

dates commencing in 2013.

On 25 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 1,638 Performance Share Awards over shares were granted to 

an employee with an exercise price per share of $0.01. The Performance Share Awards are available for 

vesting on various dates commencing in 2012.
On 26 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 442,500 shares were awarded to former directors and 

employee exercising options with an exercise price of GBP0.11 per share. 

On 26 April 2012, pursuant to the Group's Plan, 505,447 shares were awarded to former directors and 

employee exercising Performance Share Awards with an exercise price per share of $0.01. 

The auditor of Petro Matad Limited is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”).

Registered Office:   

Victory House
Douglas
Isle of Man
IM1 1EQ

23 Auditors' remuneration

24 Other information

Amounts received or due and receivable
by Deloitte for:
- an audit or review of the financial report of the entity
  and any other entity in the consolidated entity
- other services in relation to the entity and any other
  entity in the consolidated entity

Amounts received or due and receivable
by auditors other than Deloitte for:
- an audit or review of the financial report of subsidiary entities
- other services in relation to the subsidiary entities

Consolidated Parent

31 Dec 2010
USD$’000

31 Dec 2011
USD$’000

57

-

57

7
-

7

64

99

-

99

5
-

5

104

99

-

99

-
-

-

99

57

-

57

-
-

-

57

Note
31 Dec 2011

USD$’000
31 Dec 2010

USD$’000

89
PETRO MATAD ANNUAL REPORT 2011





In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Petro Matad Limited, I state 

that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Group give a true and fair view   

of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 31 December 2011 and   

of its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with      

Australian Accounting Standards, mandatory professional reporting        

requirements and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian   

Accounting Standards Board; and

(b) the financial reports also complies with international Financial Reporting   

Standards as disclosed in note 2(b); and

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to   

pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

On behalf of the Board

Clyde R Evans
Director
28 June, 2012
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Tel:
Fax:
E-mail:
Web:

+976 11 331099
+976 11 321799
admin@petromatad.com
www.petromatad.com

PETRO MATAD LIMITED

Suite 407, NIC Building
Amar Street 8
Sukhbaatar District
Ulaanbaatar 210646
Mongolia
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